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CERTIFIED INVESTMENT AND FINANCIAL ANALYSTS (CIFA) 
 

 INTERMEDIATE LEVEL 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANALYSIS 
 
THURSDAY: 4 December 2025. Afternoon Paper. Time Allowed: 3 hours. 
 
This paper consists of five (5) questions. Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of 
the question. Show ALL your workings. Do NOT write anything on this paper. 
 
QUESTION ONE 
(a) In the context of qualitative analysis of financial statements, discuss FOUR forms of misrepresentation in the 

financial statements. (4 marks) 
 
(b) The draft financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2025 (together with the relevant comparatives) as 

set out below related to Winter Limited, a public limited entity. 
 
Winter Limited statements of financial position as at 30 September: 
 
Assets: 2025 2024 
Non-current assets: Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Property, plant and equipment 45,170 32,480 
Equity investments at fair value   9,250    6,940 
  54,420  39,420 
Current assets:   
Inventory  5,360 3,900 
Accounts receivable 4,820 4,430 
Cash and cash equivalents     3,550    2,200 
Total assets   68,150  49,950 
Equity and Liabilities:   
Equity:   
Ordinary share capital (Sh.100 par value) 40,000 25,000 
Share premium 5,500 7,500 
Financial asset reserved and retained profit 1,705 1,395 
Total equity  47,205  33,895 
Non-current liabilities:   
14% bank loan 6,640 4,490 
Deferred tax 2,180 1,850 
Current liabilities:   
Accounts payable 5,200 5,470 
Current tax 1,090 940 
Proposed dividend 5,415 2,910 
Interest payable        420       395 
Total equity and liabilities   68,250  49,950 
 
Winter Limited statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 September 2025: 
 

 Sh.“000” 
Revenue 29,300 
Cost of sales (18,140) 
Gross profit  11,160 
Operating expenses  (6,250) 
Operating profit 4,910 
Finance costs (780) 
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 Sh.“000” 
Investment income (dividend received)        230 
Profit before tax 4,360 
Income tax expense   (1,290) 
Profit for the year  3,070 
Other comprehensive income:  
Fair value gain on equity investments     310 
Total comprehensive income for the year  3,380 
Proposed dividends (3,070) 
Retained profit carried forward       310 
 
Additional information: 
1. The property, plant and equipment are made up of: 

 

 30 September 2025 30 September 2024 
 Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Cost 55,000 39,000 
Accumulated depreciation  (9,830)  (6,520) 
Carrying amount   45,170   32,480 

 

2. During the year ended 30 September 2025, an item of plant that had cost Sh.2,800,000 and an 
accumulated depreciation of Sh.1,260,000 was disposed of for cash proceeds of Sh.1,300,000. Any profit 
or loss on the disposal has been included under cost of sales. 

3. Equity investments are designated at fair value through other comprehensive income. The company 
acquired additional equity  investments for cash during the year. 

4. On 10 October 2024, the company made 1 share for every 5-bonus issue of ordinary shares to existing 
shareholders, utilising the share premium account. 
 

Required: 
Cashflow statement in accordance with international accounting standards (IAS 7) “statement of cashflow”. 

   (16 marks) 
   (Total: 20 marks) 
 
 

QUESTION TWO 
(a) Explain the term “financial statements analysis”. (2 marks) 

 
(b) The following information relates to GSK’s retirement benefit plan: 

 

1. Benefit: Annual payments for life equal to 1% of the employee’s final salary for each year of service 
beyond the date of the plan’s establishment. 

2. The employer makes regular contributions to the plan in order to meet the future obligation. 
3. Closed to participants; benefits accrue for existing participants. 
4. Fair value of assets is Sh.5.98 billion. 
5. Present value of obligation is Sh.4.80 billion. 
6. Present value of reductions in future obligations is Sh.1.50 billion. 
7. Ten year resting schedule; 70% of the participants are fully vested. 
8. A board member inquires how the plan’s periodic pension cost affect GSK’s operating performance. A 

financial analyst reviews the adjustment needed to account for individual pension components that are 
considered operating costs and those considered non-operating costs, when calculating profit before 
taxation. 

9. The following information was extracted from the notes to the financial statements: 
• Current service cost of Sh.40 million. 
• Interest costs of 263 million. 
• Expected return on plan assets of Sh.299 million. 
• Actual return on plan assets of Sh.205 million. 

10. The financial analyst represents the following data to illustrate GSK’s current pension obligation for an 
average fully vested participant in the plan with 10-year prior service: 
• Current annual salary  Sh.1,000,000 
• Years of retirement  17 
• Current plan life expectancy  20 years 
• Annual compensation increase  6% 
• Discount rate  4% 

11. Compensation increase are awarded on the first day of the service year; no adjustments are made to 
reflect the possibility the employee may leave the firm at an earlier date. 
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Required: 
(i) Based on the notes, determine the net adjustment to profit before taxation after reclassifying pension 

components to reflect economic income before expense. (4 marks) 
 

(ii) Based on the provided information, determine the effect of changing the annual compensation interest 
rate to 5% on the annual unit credit for the average participant. (6 marks) 
 

(c) The following relates to a non-cancelable lease agreement between Lewis Ltd. and Jack Ltd., a lessee: 
• Inception date: 1 May 2023 
• Annual lease payment due at the beginning of each year, beginning with 1 May 2023: Sh.18,829,490 
• Bargain purchase option price at the  end of lease term: Sh.4 million, Lease term: 5 years 
• Economic life of leased equipment: 10 years 
• Lessor’s cost: Sh.65 million, fair value of assets at 1 May 2023: Sh.81 million. 
• Lessor’s implicit rate: 10%, lessee’s incremental borrowing rate: 10% 
• The lessee’s assumes responsibility for all executory costs. 

 
 Required: 
 Determine the lease receivable for Lewis Ltd. at 1 May 2025. (8 marks) 
   (Total: 20 marks) 

 
QUESTION THREE 
(a) IAS 21, the effects of change in Foreign Exchange rates permits an entity to choose a presentation currency that is 

different from its functional currency. 
 
Required: 
Identify FOUR reasons why an entity might choose to exercise this choice. (4 marks) 
 

(b) During its financial year ended 31 December 2024, Safkhet Ltd. entered into the following transactions:  
 

1. In August 2024, Safkhet Ltd. made an investment in securities of a listed entity. The  directors intend to 
realise the investment in the first quarter of 2025 in order to fund the planned refit of the head office. 

2. Safkhet Ltd. lent one of the customers, XY Sh.1 million at a variable interest rate pegged to average bank 
lending rates. The loan is scheduled for repayment in 5 years time and Safkhet Ltd. has provided an 
undertaking to XY that it will not assign the loan to a third party. 

3. Safkhet Ltd., made some small investments in the securities of some other listed entities. Safkhet Ltd. 
does not plan to dispose of these investments in the short term. 

 
Required: 
In accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Investment, identify the appropriate classification of these three categories of 
financial assets citing the reason for each classification. (6 marks) 
 

(c) The statements of financial position for Emby Ltd. and Marky Ltd. as at 30 June 2024 are provided as follows:  
 
 Emby Ltd. Marky Ltd. 
Assets: Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Non-current assets:   
Plant, property and equipment 80,650 17,000 
Available for sale investment (Note 1) 14,350            - 
 95,000  17,000 
Current assets:   
Inventories 18,000 4,000 
Receivables 30,000 9,500 
Cash and cash equivalents      6,000     1,500 
   54,000   15,000 
Total assets 149,000   32,000 
Equity and liabilities:   
Equity:   
Share capital (Sh.1 equity shares) 50,000 5,000 
Retained earnings 68,000 13,000 
Other reserves        800            - 
Total equity 118,800  18,000 
Non-current liabilities 10,000 4,000 
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 Emby Ltd. Marky Ltd. 
 Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Current liabilities    20,200   10,000 
Total liabilities     30200   14,000 
Total equity and liabilities  149,000   32,000 
 
Additional information: 
1. Emby Ltd. acquired a 20% investment in Marky Ltd. on 1 February 2020 for Sh.3.2 million. The 

investment was classified as available for sale with any associated gain or losses recorded within other 
reserves in Emby’s individual financial statements. 

2. On 1 January 2024, Emby Ltd. acquired an additional 60% of the equity share capital of Marky Ltd. at a 
cost of Sh.10.35 million when the retained earning of Marky Ltd. was Sh.10.5 million. The fair value of 
the original 20% investment at 1 January 2020 was Sh.3.95 million. In its own financial statements, 
Emby Ltd. continues to hold the investment in Marky Ltd. as an available for sale asset and it is recorded 
at its fair value of Sh.14.35 million as at 30 June 2024. 

3. At 1 January 2024, the fair value of the net assets of Marky Ltd. assessed to be the same as its carrying 
value, with one exception, property, plant and equipment (PPE). Leasehold property with carrying value 
of Sh.64 million, had a fair value of Sh.8 million. The remaining useful life of this asset is 10 years from 
the date of acquisition. 

4. Depreciation on PPE is charged on a monthly straight-line basis. The fair value of plant and equipment 
was declared to be equivalent to its carrying value at the date of acquisition. 

5. It is the group policy to value non-controlling interest at a fair value at the date of acquisition. The fair 
value of the non-controlling interest at 1 January 2024 was Sh.3.7 million. 

6. Marky Ltd. receivables at 30 June 2024 included Sh.3 million in respect of goods sold by Marky Ltd. to 
Emby Ltd. in April 2024. Emby Ltd.’s year end inventories include Sh.1 million of these items and 
closing payables included an amount due to Marky Ltd. of Sh.1 million. Emby Ltd. made a payment of 
Sh.2 million to Marky Ltd. on 30 June 2024. Marky Ltd. makes a margin of 20% on all sales. 

 
Required: 
Prepare a consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024 for Emby Group. (10 marks) 

 (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION FOUR 
(a) Identify FOUR disclosure that an entity must make in its financial reports regarding climate related financial risks 

and opportunities according to IFRS S2. (4 marks) 
 

(b) Citing THREE reasons, justify the rationale behind the benchmarking in analysing financial statements and 
assessing the overall performance of a business entity. (6 marks) 
 

(c) The following results were obtained from the financial statements of Rewards Ltd. as at 30 September: 
 
Year 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 
Revenue (Sh.“000”) 4,360.70 4,250.60 4,165.00 4,123.80 3,885.00 
Profit after tax (Sh.“000”) 53.80 48.00 45.70 45.90 42.80 
Earning per share (EPS) (Sh.) 8.40 7.60 7.30 7.50 7.00 
Equity fund per share (EFPS) (Sh.) 255.50 251.40 249.10 246.80 243.00 
 
The consumer price index level at the end of each year is as follows: 
Year   Consumer price index 
2020 245.90 
2021 253.30 
2022 268.50 
2023 273.90 
2024 282.00 
 
Required: 
(i) Compute the adjusted factors for year 2020 to year 2023, using the year 2024 as the end of year price 

level. (4 marks) 
 

(ii) Adjusted annual figures to common price level of year 2024, using the adjustment factors obtained in           
(b) (i) above.                             (6 marks) 

  (Total: 20 marks) 
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QUESTION FIVE 
(a) Outline FOUR methods of financial statement analysis.  (4 marks) 

 
(b) Selected section of the statement of financial position for QM Ltd. is presented below. 

 
QM Ltd. partial statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024: 
 

Long-term debt: Sh. 
Notes payable, 14% 1,000,000 
8% convertible bond payable 2,500,000 
10% convertible bonds payable 2,500,000 
Total long-term debt 6,000,000 
Shareholders’ equity:  
10% cumulative, convertible preferred shares Sh.100 par value, 100,000 shares authorised 25,000 
issued and outstanding 

 
2,500,000 

Common stock Sh.1 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorised, 500,000 shares issued and outstanding 500,000 
Additional capital paid 2,000,000 
Retained earnings   9,000,000 
Total shareholders’ equity 14,000,000 
 

Additional information: 
1. Options were granted in July 2022 to purchase 50,000 shares of common stock at Sh.20 per share. The 

average market price of QM’s common stock during the year 2024 was Sh.30 per share. All options were 
still outstanding at the end of year 2024. 

2. Both the 8% and 10% convertible bonds were issued in 2023 at a face value. Each bond is convertible 
into 40 shares of common stock. Each bond has a face value of Sh.1.000. 

3. The 10% cumulative convertible preferred stock was issued at the beginning of the year 2024 at a par. 
Each share of preferred is convertible into four shares of common stock. 

4. The average income tax rate is 30%. 
5. The 500,000 shares of common stock were outstanding during the entire year. 
6. Preferred dividends were not declared in the year 2024. 
7. Net income was Sh.1,750,000 in the year 2024.  
8. No bonds or preferred stock were converted during the year 2024. 

 
 Required: 

(i) Basic earnings per share. (2 marks) 
 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share. (6 marks) 
 

(c) A sample of 100 arrivals of customers at RMB bank showed the following distribution pattern: 
 
Time between arrival (minutes) Frequency 

0.5 2 
1.0 6 
1.5 10 
2.0 25 
2.5 20 
3.0 14 
3.5 10 
4.0 7 
4.5 4 
5.0 2 

 100 
 

 A study of the time required to serve a customer by the bank teller cashier is shown by the following distribution: 
 

Service time (minutes) Frequency 
0.5 12 
1.0 21 
1.5 36 
2.0 19 
2.5 7 
3.0 5 

 100 
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 Required: 
 Determine the average waiting time per customer and the average idle time of the service using the following 

random numbers. 
 

• Random numbers for arrivals: 93, 22, 53, 64, 39, 07, 10, 63, 76 and 35. 
 

• Random numbers for service: 78, 76, 58, 54, 74, 92, 38, 70, 96 and 92.  
 (8 marks) 

  (Total: 20 marks)  
………………………………………………………………………… 
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CIFA INTERMEDIATE LEVEL 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANALYSIS 
 
THURSDAY: 21 August 2025. Afternoon Paper. Time Allowed: 3 hours. 
 
Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of the question. Show ALL your 
workings. Do NOT write anything on this paper. 
 
QUESTION ONE 
(a) Highlight FOUR non-financial objectives of an organisation. (4 marks) 

 
(b) The following information was extracted from the statements of financial position  of 10 companies in hotel and 

catering industries: 
 
Companies in hotel 
and catering industry 

Inventory  
Sh.“000” 

Current assets 
Sh.“000” 

Current liabilities 
Sh.“000” 

A 2,700 5,000 10,000 
B 6,500 12,500 25,000 
C 18,600 25,000 50,000 
D 21,600 37,500 75,000 
E 12,000 25,000 100,000 
F 3,000 5,000 1,250 
G 6,700 12,500 6,250 
H 18,700 25,000 12,500 
I 16,600 37,500 18,750 
J 35,000 50,000 25,000 

 

The 10 companies (A - J) intend to benchmark themselves against their liquidity position and then determine the 
average liquidity for the industry. 
 
Required: 
Calculate the industry average ratio for the following: 
 
(i) Current ratio.  (3 marks) 

 
(ii) Acid-test-ratio.  (3 marks) 
 

(c) Ahadi Ltd. is a leading manufacturer of pharmaceutical products in Kenya. Ahadi Ltd. has a customer based in 
South Africa known as Tesco Ltd. Ahadi Ltd. made a credit sale to Tesco Ltd. on 1 October 2024 for SA Rd 
100,000. Ahadi Ltd. received part payment on 30 November 2024 of SA Rd 60,000. The exchange rates 
applicable during the financial year were as follows: 
 

1 October 2024          Ksh.1 = SA Rd 1.25 
30 November 2024    Ksh.1 = SA Rd 1.20 
31 December 2024     Ksh.1 = SA Rd 1.1 
 
Required: 
Show how the above transactions should be recorded in the books of Ahadi Ltd. for the year ended 31 December 
2024.   (4 marks) 
 

(d) Hugoh Ltd. is a newly established company in the book-selling industry, where Dunhill Ltd. is a market leader.  
The management of Hugoh Ltd. aims to compare its financial performance with that of Dunhill Ltd. However, due 
to significant differences in their size and operations scale, a direct comparison of their financial statements is a 
challenge.  
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 The following are the summarised financial statements of both companies. 
 
 Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2025: 
  

 Hugoh Ltd. Dunhill Ltd. 
 Sh.“million” Sh.“million” 
Sales 340 1,700 
Cost of sales (238) (1,156) 
Gross profit 102 544 
Operating expenses (78) (391) 
Interest expenses (5) (5) 
Income tax   (6)  (47) 
Net profit    13   101 

 
 Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025: 
  

 Hugoh Ltd. Dunhill Ltd. 
 Sh.“million” Sh.“million” 
Assets:   
Non-current assets 57 263 
Current assets  34  175 
  91  438 
Equity and liabilities:   
Equity:   
Shares capital 26 257 
Retained earnings 13 110 
Non-current liabilities:   
Long term liabilities 46 44 
Current liabilities     6    27 
   91  438 

  
 Required: 
 Vertical analysis of statement of profit or loss for both Hugoh Ltd. and Dunhill Ltd. (6 marks) 

   (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION TWO 
(a) Outline THREE techniques used in financial statements analysis. (3 marks) 

 
(b) Kalikor Ltd. has for many years neglected the impacts of its activities on the environment.  In order to counter the 

effect of  global warming, the company now wishes to partner with the government in projects that generate 
carbon credits. 
 
Required: 
Identify THREE activities that the company could engage in order to earn carbon credits. (3 marks)  
 

(c) The income before tax for Abode Ltd. for the year 2023 was Sh.101,000 and Sh.77,400 for the year 2024. 
However, the accountant noted that the following errors had been made: 
 
1. Sales for year 2023 included amounts of Sh.38,200 which had been received in cash during the year 

2023, but for which the related products were delivered in year 2024.  Title to the products did not pass 
to the purchaser until 2024. 

2. The inventory on 31 December 2023 was understated by Sh.8,640 
3. The book keeper in recording interest expense for both year 2023 and year 2024 on bonds payable made 

the following entry on annual basis: 
• Effective interest year 2023 Sh.16,450 and year 2024 Sh.16,552. 
• Interest expense Sh.15,000 and cash Sh.15,000. 

4. The bonds have a face value of Sh.250,000 and pay a stated interest rate of 6%.  They were issued at a 
discount of Sh.15,000 on 1 January 2023 to yield an effective interest rate of 7%. (Assume that the 
effective yield method should be used). 

5. Ordinary repairs to equipment had been erroneously charged to the equipment account during year 2023 
and year 2024.  Repairs amounting to Sh.8,500 in year 2023 and Sh.9,400 in year 2024 were so charged.  
The company applies a rate of 10% to the balance in the equipment account at the end of the year in its 
determination of depreciation charges. 
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Required: 
Prepare a schedule showing the determination of corrected income before taxes for the year 2023 and year 2024.                        

  (6 marks) 
 

(d) The following set of balances have been extracted from the accounting records of Sunny Limited as at                  
30 June 2025 for the purpose of preparing the projected financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2026:  
 

 Sh.“000” 
Net sales  405,000 
Cost of goods sold 307,800 
Inventory at 30 June 2025 42,500 
Trade receivables 24,200 
Bank balance 19,500 
Trade payables 23,600 
Staff salaries 22,500 
Depreciation expense 30,800 
Selling expenses 10,800 
Gain on disposal of equipment 1,600 
Interest expense 3,000 
Investment income 3,300 
Income tax expense 10,500 
Plant, property and equipment 114,900 
Equity investments 66,000 
Long term borrowings 25,000 
Ordinary shares capital 100,000 
Retained earnings at 1 July 2024 94,000 
 
The following assumptions relate  to the year ending 30 June 2026: 
1. Sales revenue will increase by Sh.15 million. 
2. Gross profit margin will improve by 1% percentage point. 
3. Staff salaries will rise by 4%. 
4. Selling expenses will reduce by Sh.1,700,000. 
5. There will be neither sale nor purchase of non-current assets. 
6. New long-term loan of Sh.30 million had been obtained on 1 July 2025.  Interest on the borrowings is 

charged at the rate of 12% per annum. 
7. A gain in fair value of the equity investments amounting to Sh.4 million is anticipated. 
8. Corporation tax rate of 30% is assumed. 
9. Selected projected items of the year ending 30 June 2026 are set below. 

 

 Sh.“000” 
Property, plant and equipment 92,000 
Inventory 43,600 
Trade receivables 25,900 
Trade payables 24,800 

 
Required: 
Prepare a single-step projected statement of profit or loss for the year ending 30 June 2026. (8 marks) 
  (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION THREE 
(a) Explain SIX steps that a securities and investment analyst is expected to follow when undertaking financial 

statement analysis. (6 marks) 
 

(b) The following financial statements were extracted from the books of Mango’s Ltd. as at 31 March: 
 
 2025 2024 
 Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Non-current assets:   
Freehold land and building 50,400 36,000 
Plant and machinery 17,580 19,050 
Investment at cost 10,800 11,250 
Goodwill   8,400   8,700 
 87,180 75,000 
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Current assets: Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Inventory 30,150 26,100 
Trade receivable 18,420 23,400 
Short term investments 5,130 2,520 
Cash in hand       600    1,290 
 141,480 128,310 
Equity and liabilities:   
Equity:   
Ordinary share capital 76,500 72,000 
Share premium 4,500 2,250 
Revaluation reserve 13,500 - 
Revenue reserve   18,450  15,750 
 112,950 90,000 
Current liabilities:   
Trade payables 17,550 15,750 
Bank overdraft 7,170 19,620 
Proposed dividend 1,350 1,140 
Corporate tax    2,460     1,800 
 141,480 128,310 
 
Additional information: 
1. During the year, impairment of goodwill was estimated to be Sh.1,260,000. 
2. The revaluation reserves relate to freehold land and building. 
3. The statement of profit or loss extract for the year ended 31 March 2025 was as follows: 

 

 Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Profit before tax  7,200 
Less: Corporation tax  (2,700) 
Profit after tax  4,500 
Dividends interim 450  
Dividends proposed 1,350 (1,800) 
Retained earnings     2,700 
 

4. During the year, a plant with a net book value of Sh.2,200,000 was sold for Sh.4,410,000.  The plant had 
an original cost of Sh.9,000,000. 

5. Part of investment was sold during the year at a profit of Sh.480,000. 
6. Depreciation on plant and machinery amounting to Sh.3,450,000 was charged to the statement of profit 

or loss during the year. 
 
Required: 
Cashflow statement in accordance with International Accounting Standards (IAS) 7 “statement of cashflow”.          
  (14 marks) 

 (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION FOUR 
(a) Explain TWO application areas in financial statements analysis in which Monte Carlo simulation could be used.           

 (4 marks) 
 

(b) Highlight FOUR consequences of accounting scandals in public limited entities. (4 marks)  
 

(c) On 1 May 2022, Party Limited issued a 10.5% Sh.36 million convertible loan notes at par value. There were no 
issue costs.  Interest is payable in arrears on 30 April each year. The loan note would be redeemable at par on       
1 May 2026 or convertible into ordinary shares at the holders option on the basis of forty (40) ordinary shares for 
each Sh.100 of the loan note. A similar loan note issued by Safari Ltd. without the conversion option attract 
interest at the rate of 13.5% per annum. 
 
Required: 
(i) With suitable computations, analyse the accounting treatment of the above financial instruments in the 

financial statements of Party Limited for the year ended 30 April: 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025.  (10 marks) 
 

(ii) Explain the accounting treatment of convertible financial instruments as per the International Accounting 
Standards (IAS) 32 – Financial Instruments. (2 marks) 

 (Total: 20 marks) 
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QUESTION FIVE 
(a) (i) Explain the term “Shenanigan Strategies” as used in financial statements analysis. (4 marks) 

 
(ii) Describe TWO basic strategies underlying accounting Shenanigans. (4 marks) 

 
(b) Michelyn Limited is a public limited company operating in the transport industry. It intends to achieve economies 

of scale by entering into a business combination with a similar partner. To achieve this, Michelyn Limited 
acquired all of the ordinary shares capital of Finestore Limited by way of shares exchange on 1 April 2024.  
Michelyn Limited issued 5 of its own shares to Finestore Limited for every 4 shares in Finestore Limited. The 
market value of Michelyn Limited shares on 1 April 2024 was Sh.60 each. The shares issue has not been recorded 
in Michelyn Limited’s books.  
 
The summarised financial statements of both companies for the year ended 30 September 2024 were as follows: 
 
Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 September 2024: 
 

 Michelyn Limited Finestore Limited 
 Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Sales revenue 144,000 120,000 
Cost of sales (99,600)  (70,800) 
Gross profit 44,400 49,200 
Operating expenses  (9,600)   (6,000) 
Profit before tax 34,800 43,200 
Corporate tax (12,000) (18,000) 
Profit for the year    22,800    25,200 
 
 

Statement of financial position as at 30 September 2024: 
 Michelyn Limited Finestore Limited 
 Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Non-current assets:     
Property, land and equipment  384,000  210,000 
Investments               -     76,800 
  384,000  286,800 
Current assets:     
Inventory 136,800  141,600  
Trade receivable 98,400  145,200  
Bank     3,000 238,200    1,200  288,000  
   622,200   574,800 
Equity and liabilities:     
Ordinary share capital (Sh.100 each)  120,000  72,000 
Share premium  24,000  14,400 
Retained earnings   343,200   256,200 
  487,200  342,600 
Non-current liabilities:     
10% loan  30,000  108,000 
Current liabilities:     
Trade payables 91,800  106,200  
Corporate tax  13,200 105,000   18,000 124,200 
  622,200  574,800 
 

Additional information: 
1. The fair value of Finestore Limited investment was Sh.30 million in excess of its book value at the date 

of acquisition. 
2. No dividends have been paid by either of the companies. 
3. Goodwill was reviewed on 30 September 2024.  Sh.18 million loss is to be recognised. 
4. The fair value of Finestore Limited other net assets were equal to the book value. 

 
 Required: 

(i) Consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 September 2024. (6 marks) 
 

(ii) Consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September 2024. (6 marks) 
  (Total: 20 marks)  

………………………………………………………………………… 
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CIFA INTERMEDIATE LEVEL 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANALYSIS 
 
FRIDAY: 25 April 2025. Afternoon Paper. Time Allowed: 3 hours. 
 
Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of the question. Show ALL your workings. 
Do NOT write anything on this paper. 

 
QUESTION ONE 
(a) Describe FOUR benefits of using cash flow statements by financial analysts. (4 marks) 

(b) In the context of financial reporting, analyse the accounting treatment of a discontinued operation in the financial 
statements of an entity. (6 marks) 

(c) Cool Energy, a petroleum company, reported a net income of Sh.1,803.8 million on revenues of Sh.54,618.6 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2024. Interest expense totalled to Sh.359.97 million and preferred dividends totalled 
to Sh.12.5 million. Average total assets for the year ended 31 December 2024 were Sh.17,527.9 million. The income 
tax rate is 30%. Average preferred shareholders equity totalled to Sh.204.3 million and average common 
shareholders’ equity totalled to Sh.6,562.3 million. 

 
Required: 
(i) Compute the rate of return on asset (ROA). (1 mark) 

(ii) Compute the rate of return on capital employed (ROCE). (1 mark) 

(iii) Calculate the amount of net income to common shareholders derived from the excess return on creditors’ 
capital, the excess return on preferred shareholders’ capital and the return on common shareholder’s 
capital.  (4 marks) 

 
(d) Drum Ltd. sponsors a defined benefit pension plan. The corporation’s actuary provides the following information 

about the plan: 
  1 January 2024 31 December 2024 
  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Defined benefit obligation 2,500 3,300 
Plan assets (fair value) 1,700 2,620 
Discount rate - 10% 
Pension asset/liability 800 ? 
Service costs for the year 2024  400 
Contributions (funding in 2024)  700 
Benefits paid in 2024  200 
 
Required: 
Calculate the amount of other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2024. Assume the 1 January 2024 balance 
was zero.  (4 marks)   
   (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION TWO 
House Limited, a public limited entity, acquired a 75% controlling interest in Swift Limited, another public limited entity on 
1 July 2024.  House Limited made an immediate cash payment to the owners of Swift Limited amounting to Sh.22,600,000 
as consideration for the acquisition. On 1 January 2025, House Limited also purchased 30% of the ordinary shares of Almond 
Limited, a public limited entity for a cash consideration of Sh.3,800,000. 
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The following are the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the group of companies for the year 
ended 31 March 2025: 

 

 House Limited Swift Limited Almond Limited 
 Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Revenue 140,500 108,000 64,600 
Cost of  sales   (96,600) (78,000)  (40,900) 
Gross profit 43,900 30,000 23,700 
Distribution costs (9,500) (6,400) (5,600) 
Administrative expenses  (10,800)  (7,400)  (6,300) 
Operating profit 23,600 16,200 11,800 
Finance costs   (1,100)    (600)    (400) 
Profit before tax 22,500 15,600 11,400 
Income tax expense   (6,800)  (5,200) (3,400) 
Profit for the year 15,700 10,400 8,000 
Other comprehensive income:    
Gain on property revaluation    3,600    2,400           - 
Total comprehensive income  19,300  12,800   8,000 
Equity balances at 1April 2024:    
Ordinary shares capital (Sh.10 par value)  20,000 10,000 2,000 
Retained earnings 29,400 13,900 4,000 

 
Additional information: 
1. The fair values of net assets of Swift Limited at the date of acquisition were equal to their carrying amount.  The 

property of Swift Limited was revalued during the post-acquisition period. 

2. During the post-acquisition period, Swift Limited sold goods to House Limited for Sh.7,200,000.  Swift Limited 
makes a gross profit margin of 25% on all its sales.  One third (⅓) of these goods were still held by House Limited 
in its inventory at 31 March 2025. 

3. House Limited measures goodwill and non-controlling interest using the fair value method.  At the date of 
acquisition, the non-controlling interest in Swift Limited had a fair value of Sh.7,000,000. 

4. Impairment review performed on 31 March 2025 revealed that neither the goodwill on acquisition of Swift Limited 
nor the investment in Almond Limited had been impaired. 

5. Assume that profits and losses accrued evenly throughout the year. 

  
Required: 
(a) Calculate the value of goodwill arising on acquisition of Swift Limited as at 1 July 2024. (4 marks) 

 
(b) Determine the equity-accounted value of investment in Almond Limited as at 31 March 2025. (2 marks) 

 
(c) Prepare the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for House Group for the year 

ended 31 March 2025. (14 marks) 
  (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION THREE 
(a) Identify THREE user groups of financial statements citing the information they are likely to require.    (3 marks) 

 
(b) Explain FIVE purposes of the International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB’s) conceptual framework for 

financial reporting. (5 marks) 
 

(c) Discuss THREE uses of income tax disclosures on a company’s financial statement to a financial analyst.                            
  (6 marks) 

 

(d) Joy Ltd. reported a pre-tax financial income of Sh.800,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024. The following 
items caused taxable income to be different from pre-tax financial income during the year: 
1. Depreciation on the tax return is greater than depreciation on the income statement by Sh.160,000. 
2. Rent collected on the tax return is greater than rent revenue reports on the income statement by 

Sh.270,000. 
3. Fines for pollution appear as an expense of Sh.110,000 on the income statement. 

 
 Joy Ltd.’s tax rate is 30% for all years.  The company expects to report taxable income in all future years.  There 

are no deferred taxes as at 1 January 2024. 
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 Required: 
 Calculate: 
 

(i) Current income tax payable for the year 2024. (2 marks) 
 

(ii) Net deferred tax for the year 2024. (3 marks) 
 

(iii) Effective income tax rate for the year 2024. (1 mark) 
 (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION FOUR 
(a) Distinguish between “conservative accounting” and “aggressive accounting”. (4 marks) 

 
(b) Evaluate THREE conditions that may be conducive for producing and issuing low quality financial reports.                    

  (6 marks) 
 

(c) Axe Ltd. purchased equipment on 2 January 2021 for Sh.112,000,000. The equipment had an estimated useful life 
of 5 years with an estimated salvage value of Sh.12,000,000. The company uses straight line depreciation method 
on all assets. On 2 January 2025, the company exchanged this equipment plus Sh.12,000,000 in cash for newer 
equipment. The old equipment had a fair value of Sh.50,000,000. 
 
Required: 
(i) Determine the entries that the company should make in its books of account on the close of this 

transaction. (Assume the exchange has commercial substance). (3 marks) 
 

(ii) Discuss how the exchange affects comparisons of the return on asset ratio for Axe Ltd. in the year of the 
exchange compared to prior years. (2 marks) 

 
(d) The shareholder’s equity sector of the statement of financial position for Zoe Ltd. included the following accounts 

as at 31 December 2023: 
 
  (Sh.“million”) 
Paid in capital: 
120 million ordinary shares (Sh.1 par value) 120 
Paid in capital-excess of par 836 
Retained earnings 2,449 
Total shareholders’ equity 3,405 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the following events and transactions took place: 
1. On 11 March 2024, Zoe Ltd. issued 10 million of its 9.2% preferred shares, Sh.1 par value shares, for 

Sh.44 per share. 
2. On 22 November 2024, 1 million ordinary shares, Sh.1 par value, were issued in exchange for eight 

machines. Each machine was built to custom specifications so no cash price was available.  Zoe Ltd.’s 
shares were listed at Sh.10 per share. 

3. On 23 November 2024, 1 million of the ordinary shares and 1 million preferred shares were sold for Sh.60 
million. The preferred shares had not traded since March 2024 and their market value was uncertain. 

 
The net income for the year ended 31 December 2024 was Sh.400 million and the company paid the 9.2% dividend 
on the 11 million preferred shares. 
 
Required: 
Prepare the shareholders’ equity section of the comparative statement of financial position for Zoe Ltd. as at                    
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024.  (5 marks) 
   (Total: 20 marks) 
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QUESTION FIVE 
(a) The following extracts of financial statements were obtained from the financial records of Global Limited with a 

view of analysing the company’s working capital cycle and the dividend policy: 
 
Extracts of statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December: 

 2024 2023 
 Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Revenue 584,000 511,000 
Cost of sales (438,000) (401,500) 
Gross profit 146,000 109,500 
Operating expenses (74,600) (73,900) 
Finance costs       (8,600)    (8,400) 
Profit before tax  62,800 27,200 
Income tax expense   (17,800)   (9,600) 
Profit for the year     45,000     17,600 
 
Extracts of statement of financial position as at 31 December:  

 2024 2023 
Current assets: Sh.“000”  Sh.“000” 
Inventory 50,400 44,000 
Trade receivables 62,400 53,200 
Current liabilities: 
Trade payables 44,400 38,500 
Equity: 
Ordinary share capital (Sh.10 par value) 15,000 10,000 
Share premium 1,500 1,000 
Retained profit brought forward 51,800 36,400 
Retained profit for the year 36,900 15,400 
 
Assume a 365-day financial year of the company. 
 

The market prices of the company’s ordinary shares were Sh.24 and Sh.22 as at 31 December 2024 and                          
31 December 2023 respectively. 
 
Required: 
Calculate the following financial ratios for Global Limited for each of the years ended 31 December 2023 and                
31 December 2024: 
 
(i) Inventory holding period.   (2 marks) 
(ii) Receivables collection period.   (2 marks) 
(iii) Payables payment period (use cost of sales).   (2 marks) 
(iv) Cash conversion cycle.   (2 marks) 
(v) Dividend pay-out ratio.   (2 marks) 
(vi) Dividend yield.   (2 marks) 
 

(b) On 1 December 2020, Perry Limited entered into a contract to lease an item of machinery from a supplier for four 
years. The terms of the lease were that Perry Limited was required to pay annual rent of Sh.1,550,000 in arrears 
commencing on 30 November 2021. Initial direct costs incurred on the lease amounted to Sh.429,570 and were paid 
for by Perry Limited. 
 
The machinery had a remaining economic useful life of six years at the commencement of the lease. The lease 
contract did not contain any purchase option for the lessee. 
 
The interest rate implicit in the lease was at 13% per annum. 
 
Note: Present value interest factor of an annuity (PVIFA) at 13% for 4 years is 2.97447. 
 
Required: 
Analyse the accounting treatment of the above lease transactions in the financial statements of Perry Limited for the 
years ended 30 November 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024.  (8 marks) 
   (Total: 20 marks)  

………………………………………………………………………… 
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CIFA INTERMEDIATE LEVEL 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANALYSIS 
 
THURSDAY: 5 December 2024. Afternoon Paper. Time Allowed: 3 hours. 
 
Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of the question. Show ALL your workings. 
Do NOT write anything on this paper. 

 
QUESTION ONE 
(a) Analyse the impact of climate changes on the following elements of financial statements: 

 
(i) Bearer biological assets. (2 marks) 

 
(ii) Intangible assets. (2 marks) 

 
(iii) Inventories. (2 marks) 

 
(b) Discuss FOUR red flags that would indicate financial statements are of poor quality. (8 marks) 

 
(c) The following accounting information was obtained from the financial records of Aviator Limited for the year ended 

31 December 2023: 
 
  Sh.“000” 
Revenue  504,000 
Operating profit 130,200 
Finance costs 40,500 
Income tax expense 26,700 
Total assets 672,000 
Shareholders’ equity 420,000 
Long-term borrowings 300,000 
 
Required: 
Compute the company’s return on shareholders’ funds (ROSF) using the three-step Du Point analysis. (6 marks)  
   (Total: 20 marks) 

 
QUESTION TWO 
(a) Describe TWO ways on how investment properties are measured. (4 marks) 

 
(b) Explain TWO determinants of earnings quality. (4 marks) 

 
(c) Square Limited, a public limited entity has provided the following details for the financial year ended 30 September 

2024: 
 

The following information has been extracted from the financial records of the company with a view of determining 
the deferred tax: 
1. Property, plant and equipment has a carrying value of Sh.92,500,000 and a tax base of Sh.83,500,000. 

During the year ended 30 September 2024, the property was revalued upwards at a gain of Sh.3,500,000. 
2. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. The cost amounted to Sh.37,500,000 while 

the net realisable value was estimated at Sh.33,900,000. 
3. Trade receivables are carried at Sh.13,500,000 after making allowance for doubtful debts of Sh.1,500,000. 

The allowance for doubtful debt is not allowed for tax purposes. 
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4. During the year to 30 September 2024, development expenditure amounting to Sh.14,400,000 was 
capitalised. Amortisation of Sh.800,000 was charged to profit or loss for the year. The development 
expenditure was allowed for tax purposes in full during the year. 

5. Trade and other payables have been carried at Sh.18,000,000. Included in the other payables are accrued 
expenses of Sh.3,000,000 whose related expenses are allowable for tax purposes on cash paid basis. 

6. Deferred tax liability as at 1 October 2023 amounted to Sh.2,160,000. 
7. The basic income tax rate applicable to Square Limited is 30%. 
 
Required: 
(i) Compute the relevant temporary differences. (8 marks) 

 
(ii) Determine the deferred tax charge or credit for the year ended 30 September 2024. (4 marks) 

  (Total: 20 marks) 
 
QUESTION THREE 
(a) Differentiate between “top down approach” and “bottom up approach” techniques of analysing financial statements.  

   (4 marks)  
 

(b) Popote Ltd. owns two subsidiaries acquired as follows: 
 
1 July 2016 80% of Tatu Ltd. for Sh.5 million when the book value of the net assets of Tatu Ltd. was  

Sh.4 million. 
30 November 2022 65% of Nzoia Ltd. for Sh.2.6 million when the book value of the net assets of Nzoia Ltd. was 

Sh.3.35 million. 
 
The companies’ statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2023 were 
as follows: 
 
   Popote Ltd. Tatu Ltd.  Nzoia Ltd. 
   Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Revenue  5,000 3,000 2,910 
Cost of sales (3,000) (2,300) (2,820) 
Gross profit 2,000 700 90 
Administrative expenses (1,000) (500) (150) 
Other income 230 - - 
Finance costs                                                                        - (50) (210) 
Profit/(loss) before tax 1,230 150 (270) 
Income tax expense (300) (50)                     - 
Profit/(loss) for the year 930 100 (270) 
Other comprehensive income that will not be 130 40 120 
reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax  ____ ___ ____ 
Total comprehensive income for the year   1,060 140 (150) 
Dividends paid during the year  200 50 - 
 
Additional information: 
1. On 1 April 2022, Nzoia Ltd. issued Sh.2.1 million 10% loan stock to Popote Ltd. Interest is payable twice 

yearly on 1 October and 1 April. Popote Ltd. has accounted for the interest received on 1 October 2022 
only.   

2. On 1 July 2022, Tatu Ltd. sold a freehold property to Popote Ltd. for Sh.800,000 (land element – 
Sh.300,000). The property original cost was Sh.900,000 (land element – Sh.100,000) on 1 July 2012. The 
property’s total useful life was 50 years on 1 July 2012 and there has been no change in the useful life since 
then. Tatu Ltd. has credited the profit on disposal to administrative expenses.  

3. The property, plant and equipment of Nzoia Ltd. on 30 November 2022 was valued at Sh.500,000 (book 
value Sh.350,000) and was acquired in April 2022. The property, plant and equipment has a total useful life 
of ten years. Nzoia Ltd. has not adjusted its accounting records to reflect fair values. The group accounting 
policy is to measure non-controlling interests at the proportionate share of the fair value of net identifiable 
assets at acquisition.  

4. All companies use the straight line method of depreciation and charge a full year’s depreciation in the year 
of acquisition and none in the year of disposal. Depreciation on fair value adjustments in time apportioned 
from the date of acquisition. 

5. Popote Ltd. charges Tatu Ltd. an annual fee of Sh.85,000 for management services and this has been 
included in other income. 
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6. Popote Ltd. has accounted for its dividend received from Tatu Ltd. in other income. 
7. Impairment tests conducted during the year revealed recoverable amounts of Sh.7,040,000 for Tatu Ltd. 

and Sh.3,700,000 for Nzoia Ltd. versus book value of net assets of Sh.4,450,000 and Sh.3,300,000 in the 
separate financial statements of Tatu Ltd. and Nzoia Ltd. respectively (adjusted for the effects of group fair 
value adjustments). No impairment losses had previously been recognised. 

 
Required: 
Prepare the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for Popote Group for the year 
ended 31 March 2023.     (16 marks) 
     (Total: 20 marks) 

 
QUESTION FOUR 
(a) The following data is available for a technology company: 

 
Year 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 
 Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Sales  3.248 2.672 2.045 1.761 1.820 1.723 
Cost of goods sold  1.919 1.491 0.898 1.201 1.316 1.228 
Receivables 0.281 0.139 0.099 0.076 0.115 0.045 
Inventories  0.194 0.176 0.010 0.002 0.000 0.000 
Accounts payable  0.223 0.317 0.366 1.423 0.704 0.674 

 
Notes: 
 Assume there are 365 days in a year. 
 Use the cost of goods sold as an approximation of purchases for sales. 
 
The following information has been provided: 
 
Cash conversion cycle = DIO + DSO – DPO  
Where: 
DIO  → Days inventory outstanding  = Number of days in period 
    Inventory turnover ratio 

DSO → Days sales outstanding =  Number of days in period 
    Receivable turnover ratio 

DPO → Days payable outstanding =  Number of days in period 
    Payable turnover ratio 

Receivable turnover ratio  =  Total revenue  
    Average receivable 

Payable turnover ratio  = Purchases  
    Average trade payable 
 
Required: 
(i) Calculate the cash conversion cycle for year 2019 to 2023.  (6 marks) 

 
(ii) Explain the firm’s performance based on your result in (a) (i) above.  (2 marks) 

      
(b) Pamoja Ltd. is a multinational company. The company prepares a segmental report for inclusion in its financial 

accounts for year ended 30 September 2024. The company has divided its operations into the processing, refining 
and finishing and operates in Nairobi, Mombasa and Kisumu. The following details relates to Pamoja Ltd.: 
 

   Sh.“000” 
Sales to customer outside the company by the processing division 44,096.25 
Sales to customers outside the company by Nairobi  105,750.00 
Sales not derived from processing, refining and finishing  12,337.50 
Sales made to customers outside the company by finishing division 74,808.75 
Assets used by the Kisumu companies   114,750.00 
Assets not allocated to processing refining and finishing  55,710.00 
Assets used by processing companies   119,062.50 
Sales by finishing to other companies   13,717.50 
Assets used by refining   66,656.25 
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    Sh.“000” 
Assets used by Nairobi   156,825.00 
Sales not allocated to Nairobi, Mombasa or Kisumu  12,337.50 
Sales by processing to other companies   4,601.25 
Sales made by the company in Mombasa   5,553.75 
Expenses not allocated to Nairobi, Mombasa or Kisumu  15,273.75     
Sales to customers outside the company by Kisumu  27,101.25 
Expenses not allocated to processing refining or finishing  18,765.00 
Sales by Mombasa to other companies   7,938.75 
Sales to customers outside the company by refining  19,500.00 
Sales by Nairobi to other companies   9,112.50 
Assets used by finishing   167,325.00 
Assets used by Mombasa   81,225.00 
Assets not allocated to Nairobi, Mombasa or Kisumu  55,953.75 
Segmented net profit made by industry:  Processing  9,157.50 
   Refining  22,185.00 
   Finishing  3,078.75 
Segmental net profit made by geographical area: Nairobi  18,273.75 
    Mombasa  11,726.25 
    Kisumu  1,826.25 
Consolidated net profit by industry    33,667.50 
Consolidated net profit by geographical area    30,176.25 
 
Required: 
Prepare geographical segmental report for the year ended 30 September 2024.  (12 marks) 
       (Total: 20 marks) 

 
QUESTION FIVE 
(a) As an analyst, discuss TWO challenges you could face while analysing financial statements. (2 marks) 

 
(b) Joshua Mwamba analysis focuses on company XYZ, a local commercial bank. He considers the firm’s capital 

adequacy as measured by the key capital ratios. Common equity Tier 1 capital, total Tier 1 capital and total capital 
shown below: 
 

At 31 December:  2023 2022 2021 
Regulatory capital (Sh.“000”) (Sh.“000”) (Sh.“000”) 
Common equity Tier 1 capital 146,424 142,367 137,100 
Additional Tier 1 capital 22,639 20,443 17,600 
Tier 2 Capital                                             22,456                 27,564                 38,200 
Total regulatory capital 191,519 190,374 192,900 
 
At 31 December  2023 2022 2021 
Regulatory capital (Sh.“000”) (Sh.“000”) (Sh.“000”) 
Risk-weighted assets (RWAs) by risk type: 
Credit risk  960,763 989,639 968,600 
Market risk  44,100 36,910 49,600 
Operational risk                                                   293,825              256,300            224,300 
Total RWAs  1,298,688 1,282,849 1,242,500 
 
Required: 
(i) Analyse company XYZ’s capital adequacy over the last three years.  (6 marks) 

 
(ii) Explain to the management of XYZ company your finding from the analysis of capital adequacy in (b) (i) 

above.     (2 marks) 
 

(c) The directors of Welfare Limited are in the process of finalising the financial statements for the year ended                    
30 November 2024 for the purpose of financial statement analysis. They have tasked the financial analyst of the 
company to advise on the liquidity and solvency positions of the company. 
 
Extracts from the financial statements of Welfare Limited for the year ended 30 November 2024 together with the 
comparative figures are as shown below: 
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Extracts of statements of financial position as at 30 November:  
 
  2024 2023 
Current assets: Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Inventories 13,260 8,625 
Accounts receivable 21,900 19,120 
Cash and cash equivalents 12,780 10,880 
  47,940 38,625 
Equity and liabilities: 
Ordinary share capital 15,000 12,000 
Share premium 3,000 2,000 
Retained profit                                      3,375                   3,000 
Total equity 21,375 17,000 
Non-current liabilities: 
12.5% bonds 32,000 24,000 
Deferred tax 1,880 1,470 
Lease liabilities                                     4,920                   7,350 
  38,800 32,820 
Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable 21,320 14,700 
Lease liabilities 1,080 1,650 
Current tax                                            3,100                   2,400 
  25,500 18,750 
 
Extracts of statements of profit or loss for the years ended 30 November: 
 
  2024 2023 
  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Gross profit 43,400 40,470 
Operating expenses (31,160) (27,240) 
Finance costs                                      (4,800)                (4,200) 
Profit before tax                                   7,440                    9,030 
 
Required: 
Calculate the following financial ratios for Welfare Limited for the two years ended 30 November 2023 and 2024: 
 
(i) Current ratio.    (2 marks) 

 
(ii) Quick (acid-test) ratio.    (2 marks) 

 
(iii) Gearing ratio (debt/debt + equity).    (2 marks) 

 
(iv) Interest cover.    (2 marks) 

 
(v) Debt to capital ratio.    (2 marks) 

    (Total: 20 marks)  
 

………………………………………………………………………… 
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CIFA INTERMEDIATE LEVEL 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANALYSIS 
 
THURSDAY: 22 August 2024. Afternoon Paper. Time Allowed: 3 hours. 
 
Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of the question. Show ALL your workings. 
Do NOT write anything on this paper. 

 
QUESTION ONE 
(a) Explain TWO fundamental qualitative characteristics of useful financial information.  (4 marks) 

 
(b) In the context of accounting for foreign currency transactions, describe TWO primary factors to consider when 

determining the functional currency. (4 marks) 
 

(c) Highlight FOUR disclosure requirements of segmental financial information. (4 marks) 
 

(d) On 1 September 2020, Ground Limited purchased Sh.120,000,000, 8% four-year bond at a discount rate of 10%.  
The bond will be redeemed on 1 September 2024 at a premium of Sh.7,992,000 above the nominal value. 
 
The effective rate of interest is 12% per annum. 
 
The transaction costs incurred amounted to Sh.2,500,000. 
 
Ground Limited intends to collect the contractual cash flows which comprise solely of interest and capital repayment 
and therefore the financial asset was designated at amortised cost. 
 
Required: 
Using suitable calculations, analyse the accounting treatment of the above financial asset in the financial statements 
of Ground Limited for the years ended 31 August: 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024. 
(Round off your answer to the nearest one thousand). (8 marks) 
  (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION TWO 
(a) Explain FOUR reasons why managers may be deterred from engaging in earnings management.  (4 marks) 

 
(b) Differentiate between “cash flow hedge” and “fair value hedge”. (4 marks) 

 
(c) A financial analyst has come across the Beneish’s earnings manipulation model and is interested in determining 

whether Tetu Ltd. is engaged in earnings manipulation.  The financial analyst considers two variables namely; Days 
Sales Receivable Index (DSRI) and Depreciation Index (DEPI) whose readings are 1.19 for each. 
 
Required: 
Explain the implications of the DSRI and DEPI variables for Tetu Ltd. (3 marks) 
 

(d) Melinda Wambui is evaluating three general insurers and has collected the following information for the latest 
financial year: 
 

Description AML Ltd. 
     Sh. “000” 

Elite Ltd. 
Sh. “000” 

Swara Ltd.  
Sh. “000” 

Loss expense and loss adjustment expense 5,400 3,212 2,467 
Underwriting expense 2,111 1,860 1,387 
Dividends to policyholders (shareholders) 412 232 148 
Net premiums earned 8,114 5,445 4,087 
Net premium written 8,217 5,348 4,299 
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The following ratios have been provided: 
• Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio  =  Loss expense + Loss adjustment expense x 100 
                    Net premium earned 
 

• Underwriting expense ratio  =     Underwriting expense   x 100 
            Net premium written 
 

• Combined ratio before dividends = Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio + Underwriting expense ratio    
 

• Dividend to policyholders (shareholders)  =    Dividends to shareholders   x 100 
               Net premium earned 
 

• Combined ratio after dividends = Combined ratio before dividends - Dividends to policy holders ratio    
          
Required: 
Determine the following: 

(i) Loss and loss adjustment ratio for each insurer. (1 mark) 
 

(ii) Underwriting expense ratio for each insurer. (1 mark) 
 

(iii) Combined ratio before dividends for each insurer. (1 mark) 
 

(iv) Dividend to policy holder ratio for each insurer. (1 mark) 
 

(v) Combined ratio after dividends for each insurer. (1 mark) 
 

(vi) The most profitable insurer on a combined ratio basis. (1 mark) 
 

(vii) The most efficient insurer in operations. (1 mark) 
 

(viii) The most profitable insurer on an overall basis. (2 marks) 
 (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION THREE 
The following draft financial statements have been extracted from the financial records of Skyview Limited for the purpose 
of vertical analysis of the elements of financial statements: 
  
Statements of financial position as at 31 May: 

                2024       2023 
   Sh.“000” Sh. “000” 

Assets: 
Non-current assets: 
Property, plant and equipment 19,200 18,500 
Intangible assets  12,600                          9,500 
    31,800 28,000 
Current assets: 
Inventory  10,800 11,500 
Trade receivables  10,200 7,000 
Bank balance                                                                      7,200                           3,500 
Total assets  60,000 50,000 

Equity and liabilities: 
Equity: 
Ordinary share capital 18,000 13,500 
Share premium  6,000 4,500 
Retained profit                                  13,200                          12,000 
Total equity  37,200 30,000 

Non-current liabilities: 
Long-term borrowings 12,000 10,000 

Current liabilities: 
Trade payables  7,800 8,000 
Current tax                                                                                3,000                           2,000 
Total equity and liabilities 60,000 50,000 
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Statements of profit or loss for the years ended 31 May: 
 

                2024       2023 
   Sh.“000” Sh. “000” 

Revenue   428,000 572,000 
Cost of sales  (316,720) (394,680) 
Gross profit  111,280 177,320 
Distribution costs  (25,680) (40,040) 
Administrative expenses (29,960) (45,760) 
Operating profit  55,640 91,520 
Finance costs  (8,560) (17,160) 
Profit before tax  47,080 74,360 
Income tax before expense (6,420) (11,440) 
Profit for the year 40,660                          62,920 
 

Required: 
(a) Common-size statements of profit or loss for the years ended 31 May 2023 and 31 May 2024. (10 marks) 

 
(b) Common-size statements of financial position as at 31 May 2023 and 31 May 2024. (10 marks) 

 (Total: 20 marks) 
  

QUESTION FOUR 
(a) Outline FOUR objectives of financial statements.  (4 marks) 

 
(b) Explain THREE categories of cash flow items presented on the statement of cash flows of an entity. (6 marks) 

 
(c) The following financial information was extracted from financial accounting records of Sterling Limited as at                 

30 April 2024: 
 

• Ordinary share capital (Sh.5 par value) Sh.2,500,000 
• Market value of ordinary shares  Sh.12 per share 
• Earnings attributable to equity holders Sh.1,875,000 
 

Required: 
Calculate the Price to Earnings (P/E) ratio for Sterling Limited. (2 marks) 
 

(d) The following data applies to post employment defined benefit compensation scheme of Wanney Ltd.: 
 

• Discount rate is 10% each year. 
• Present value of obligation at the start of the year 2021 was Sh.1 million. 
• Market value of plan assets at the start of the year 2021 was Sh.1 million. 
• The following figures are relevant: 

 

            2021 
        Sh. “000” 

          2022 
         Sh. “000” 

       2023 
    Sh. “000” 

    
Current service cost 140 150 150 
Benefits paid out 120 140 150 
Contributions paid by entity 110 120 120 
Present value of obligation at year end 1,200 1,650 1,700 
Fair value of plan assets at year end 1,250 1,450 1,610 

 

Additional information: 
1. At the end of the year 2022, a division of the company was sold.  As a result of this sale, a large number of 

employees of that division opted to transfer their accumulated pension entitlement to their new employers 
plan.  Assets with a fair value of Sh.48,000 were transferred to the other company’s plan and the actuary has 
calculated that the reduction in Wanney Ltd.’s defined benefit liability is Sh.50,000.  The year-end valuations 
for the above details were carried out before this transfer was recorded. 

2. At the end of the year 2023, a decision was taken to make a one-off additional payment to former employees 
currently receiving pensions from the plan.  This was announced to the former employees before the year 
end.  This payment was not allowed for in the original terms of the scheme.  The actuarial valuation of the 
obligation in the above data includes the additional liability of Sh.40,000 relating to this additional payment. 

 

Required: 
Show how the reporting entity should account for this defined benefit plan in each of the years: 2021, 2022              
and 2023.  (8 marks) 

 (Total: 20 marks) 
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 QUESTION FIVE 
(a) The following information relates to a non-cancellable lease agreement between XYZ leasing company and Mandy 

Ltd., a lessee: 
 

• Inception date:  1 May 2022. 
• Annual lease payment due at the beginning of each year, beginning with 1 May 2022:  Sh.188,294.90. 
• Bargain-purchase option price at the end of lease term: Sh.40,000.  
• Lease terms: 5 years. 
• Economic life of leased equipment: 10 years. 
• Lessor’s cost:  Sh.650,000; fair value of asset at 1 May 2022, Sh.810,000. 
• Lessor’s implicit rate:10%; lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is 10%. 
• The lessee assumes responsibility for all executory costs. 
 

Required: 
From the perspective of XYZ leasing company: 
 

(i) Determine the amount of lease receivable at the inception of the lease. (4 marks) 
 

(ii) Calculate the total interest amount on the lease receivable for the five years lease term. (6 marks) 
 
(b) The statements of financial position for XY Ltd. and AB Ltd. as at 31 December 2023 are provided below: 
 

            XY Ltd.                AB Ltd. 
   Sh.“000” Sh. “000” 
Assets: 
Non-current assets: 
Property, plant and equipment 5,900 2,000 
Investment in AB Ltd. 2,000                             -                     
   7,900 2,000 
Current assets             3,200 1,000 
Total assets 11,100 3,000 
Equity and liabilities: 
Equity: 
Share capital (Sh.1 equity share) 5,000  500 
Retained earnings 3,800 2,000           
Total equity 8,800 2,500 
Non-current liabilities: 
Long-term borrowings 1,300 - 
Current liabilities          1,000                             500 
Total liabilities                                                           2,300                             500 
Total equity and liabilities                                         11,100                            3,000 
 
Additional information:  
1. XY Ltd. acquired 80% of the equity share capital of AB Ltd. on 1 January 2021 for Sh.2,000,000 when the 

retained earnings of AB Ltd. were Sh.1,200,000.  There have been no shares issued since the acquisition of 
AB Ltd. 

2. At the date of the acquisition, the fair value of the net assets of AB Ltd. was the same as the book value 
with the exception of property, plant and equipment.  The fair value of property, plant and equipment was 
Sh.400,000 higher than the book value.  Property, plant and equipment had an estimated useful life of 10 
years from the date of acquisition. 

3. Non-controlling interest was valued at its fair value of Sh.450,000 at the date of the acquisition. 
4. There has been no impairment of goodwill since the date of acquisition. 
5. XY Ltd. purchased goods from AB Ltd. for Sh.200,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023 and 25% 

of these items remained in XY’s Ltd.  inventories at the year end.  AB Ltd. earns a 20% profit margin on all 
sales. 
 

Required: 
Prepare a consolidated statement of financial position for the XY Ltd. Group as at 31 December 2023. (10 marks) 
   (Total: 20 marks) 
 

………………………………………………………………………… 
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CIFA INTERMEDIATE LEVEL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANALYSIS 

THURSDAY: 25 April 2024. Afternoon Paper. Time Allowed: 3 hours. 

Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of the question. Show ALL your workings. 
Do NOT write anything on this paper. 

QUESTION ONE 
(a) Statements of cash flows are useful additions to the financial statements of companies because it is recognised that

accounting profit is not the only indicator of a company’s performance.

In reference to the above statement, summarise FOUR advantages of cash flow statement. (4 marks)

(b) Analysing financial ratios is a widely used technique for judging a company’s performance and financial position. It
is expected that ratio analysis should be capable of providing a forecast of what is likely to happen in the future.

In relation to the above statement, explain THREE weaknesses of corporate failure prediction models. (6 marks) 

(c) Describe how the discontinued operations are reported on the income statement. (4 marks) 

(d) Oak Ltd. prepares its financial statements to 31 October. On 1 November 2021 they entered into a lease agreement
for an item of plant on the following terms:
 The term of lease to be 5 years. The rentals was Sh.4,000,000 per annum payable in advance.
 The fair value of the asset is Sh.14,800,000.
 The interest rate implicit in the agreement is 18% per annum. Oak Ltd. has the option to acquire the plant for

Sh.5,000 at the end of the lease contract.
 Oak Ltd. is responsible for all repairs and maintenance of the plant.
 The plant has an economic useful life of 6 years with nil residual value and the present value of the minimum

lease payment is Sh.15,000,000.

Required: 
Prepare the following for Oak Ltd.: 

(i) Extract of the income statement for the year ended 31 October 2023. (2 marks) 

(ii) Extract of the statement of financial position as at 31 October 2023. (4 marks) 
(Total: 20 marks) 

QUESTION TWO 
On 1 October 2023, Hail Limited acquired 75% of Shower Limited’s ordinary shares for an immediate cash payment of 
Sh.11.20 per acquired share. In addition, Hail Limited agreed to pay a further amount of Sh.5,600 million on 1 October 2024. 
Hail Limited’s cost of capital is 12% per annum. Hail Limited has recorded the acquisition consideration as an investment in 
its financial statements. 

On 1 October 2023, Hail Limited also acquired a 50% shareholding in Fall Limited having entered into a joint arrangement 
with co-investor for joint control over Fall Limited. 
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The draft statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the three companies for the year ended 31 March 
2024 are as follows: 
   Hail Limited Shower Limited Fall Limited 
   Sh.“million” Sh.“million” Sh.“million” 
Revenue   12,600 8,800 5,500 
Cost of sales  (6,500) (4,600) (1,900) 
Gross profit  6,100 4,200 3,600 
Distribution costs  (1,900) (1,020) (620) 
Administration expenses (2,400) (1,680) (850) 
Profit from operations 1,800 1,500 2,130 
Finance costs                                                      (200)                                         (120)                                     (150) 
Profit before tax  1,600 1,380 1,980 
Income tax expense                                                  (450)                                          (380) (580) 
Profit for the year 1,150 1,000 1,400 
Other comprehensive income: 
Revaluation on property                                           170                                           -                                      200  
Total comprehensive income 1,320 1,000 1,600 
 
The equity balances of Shower Limited as at 1 April 2023 comprised of: 
 
   Sh.“million” 
Ordinary shares of Sh.10 par value 5,000 
Share premium  1,000 
Retained profit                                                     5,200 
   11,200 
 
Additional information: 
1. The fair values of the net assets of Shower Limited at the date of acquisition approximated their carrying values, 

with the exception of an item of plant whose fair value exceeded its carrying amount by Sh.200 million. This plant 
had an estimated remaining economic useful life of five (5) years at acquisition date. No fair value adjustments 
were necessary in respect of acquisition of investment in Fall Limited. 

2. The group policy is to measure the non-controlling interests at their fair value at acquisition date. As at 1 October 
2023, the fair value of the non-controlling interest in Shower Limited amounted to Sh.3,000 million. 

3. During the post-acquisition period, Shower Limited sold inventory worth Sh.400 million to Hail Limited, reporting 
a gross profit margin of 20% on this sale. A quarter (¼) of these goods were still in the inventory of Hail Limited at           
31 March 2024. 

4. Impairment tests on 31 March 2024, revealed that no impairment was suffered. 
5. Assume all incomes and expenses, gains and losses accrued evenly. 
 
Required: 
(a) Calculate the value of goodwill arising from acquisition of Shower Limited.  (6 marks) 

 
(b) Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2024.  

    (14 marks) 
    (Total: 20 marks) 

 
QUESTION THREE 
(a) Analysts’ adjustments to a company’s reported financial statements are sometimes necessary for example when 

comparing companies that use different accounting methods or assumptions. 
 
In relation to the above statement, identify FIVE appropriate analysts adjustments to a company’s financial 
statements to facilitate comparison with another company.  (5 marks) 
 

(b) Moses Otieno is an analyst and has gathered the following data relating to Kingley Ltd.: 
 
  2023 2022 2021 
Revenue (Sh.“000”) 72,448 66,487 55,781 
Earnings before interest and tax (Sh.“000”) 6,270 4,710 3,609 
Earnings before tax (Sh.“000”) 5,101 4,114 3,168 
Net income (Sh.“000”) 4,038 3,345 2,576 
Asset turnover 0.79 0.76 0.68 
Asset/equity 3.09 3.38 3.43 
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Required: 
(i) Analyse the trend in the return on equity (ROE).   (3 marks) 

 
(ii) Determine whether the firm can increase the ROE without operational changes.  (2 marks) 

   
(c) Palm Limited, a public limited entity had 7.2 million ordinary shares of Sh.10 par value and 2 million, 10% 

irredeemable preference shares of Sh.10 par value on 1 January 2023. 
 
At the same date, Palm Limited also had in issue 10.5 million stock options which are exercisable at Sh.12 per 
share.  
 
The average fair value per ordinary share during the year to 31 December 2023 was Sh.15. 
 
Palm Limited’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 from continuing operations amounted to Sh.20,705,000 
while profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 was Sh.14,600,000. 
 
The following share transactions took place during the year ended 31 December 2023: 
 
1. On 1 March 2023, the company issued 1.8 million ordinary shares in a 1 for 4 rights issues at a price of 

Sh.12 per share when the market price per share on cum rights basis was Sh.15. 
2. On 1 May 2023, Palm Limited issued 3 million ordinary shares at their full market price. 
3. On 1 July 2023, the directors made a 1 for 5 bonus issue of ordinary shares, capitalising the retained profit. 
4. On 1 October 2023, the company issued Sh.40 million, 12.5% convertible loan, which is convertible into 

50 ordinary shares for every Sh.100 of the loan. No loan was converted during the year to 31 December 
2023. 

5. The basic income tax rate applicable to Palm Limited is 30%. 
6. The directors declared and paid dividends to both classes of the shareholders. 
 
Required: 
(i) Calculate basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2023. (6 marks) 

 
(ii) Determine the diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2023. (4 marks) 

   (Total: 20 marks)   
 
QUESTION FOUR 
(a) International Accounting Standard IAS 37 requires disclosure of the nature of a provision on contingent liability and 

an indication of the uncertainties about the amount or timing of any related outflow of economic benefits. Where 
necessary to provide adequate information. It also requires disclosure of the major assumption made about future 
events reflected in the amount of a provision. 
 
In light of the above standard, explain THREE criteria to be met before a provision is recognised. (6 marks) 
 

(b) Discuss THREE limitations of segment reporting requirements.  (6 marks) 
 

(c) The following balances were obtained from the books of Novida Limited as at 31 March 2024: 
 
  Debit Credit 
  Sh.“000” Sh. “000” 
Building 700,000 
Provision for depreciation on buildings  105,000 
Plant at cost 168,000 
Equity shares (Sh.100 par value)  280,000 
Retained earnings (1 April 2023)  525,000 
Revaluation reserves  70,000 
Interim dividends paid 7,000 
Bank  730,800 
Revenue  1,222,900 
Cost of sales 340,900 
Operating expenses                                               256,200 ________ 
  2,202,900 2,202,900 
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Additional information: 
1. Novida Limited made a right issue on 1 October 2023 of 1 share for every 5 shares held at a price of 

Sh.150 each. The market price per share being Sh.200. 
2. A general reserve to be created and Sh.42,000,000 be transferred from retained earnings. 
3. A final dividend of 14% to be paid to equity shareholders. 
 
Required: 
Prepare statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2024.  (8 marks) 

   (Total: 20 marks) 
 
QUESTION FIVE 
(a) Identify TWO kind of information that a financial analyst would be interested in from each of the following 

sources: 
 
(i) Statement of financial position.   (2 marks) 

 
(ii) Auditors report.   (2 marks) 

 
(b) ABC Ltd. began operations in year 2022 and has provided the following information: 

1. Pre-tax financial income for the year 2022 was Sh.100,000. 
2. The tax rate applicable for year 2022 and future years is 30%. 
3. Differences between the year 2022 income statement and tax return are listed below: 

 Warranty expense accrued for financial reporting purposes amount to Sh.5,000. Warranty deductions 
per the tax return amount to Sh.2,000. 

 Gross profit on construction contracts using the percentage of completion method for books amount to 
Sh.92,000. Gross profit on construction contracts for tax purposes amount to Sh.62,000. 

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment for financial reporting purposes amount to Sh.60,000. 
Depreciation of these assets amount to Sh.80,000 for the tax return. 

 A Sh.3,500 fine paid for violation of pollution laws was deducted in computing pretax financial 
income. 

 Interest revenue earned on an investment in tax-exempt government bonds amount to Sh.1,400. 
 Taxable income is expected for the next few years. 
 In 2023, ABC Ltd. reported a pretax operating loss of Sh.100,000. There were no other temporary or 

permanent differences in tax and book income for the year 2023. ABC Ltd. expects to return to 
profitability in the year 2024. 

 
 Required: 

(i) Compute the taxable income for the year 2022.   (4 marks) 
 

(ii) Calculate the deferred taxes as at 31 December 2022 that relate to the temporary differences described 
above.   (2 marks) 
 

(iii) Prepare the income tax expense section of the income statement beginning with income before income 
taxes for year 2022.   (2 marks) 
 

(iv) Determine the income tax expense for the year 2023.  (2 marks) 
 

(c) The following financial statement were prepared from the books of Moon Ltd. and Sun Ltd. 
 
                                                                        Moon Ltd. and Sun Ltd. 
                                           Income statements for the year ended 31 December 2023: 
  Moon Ltd. Sun Ltd. 
  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Sales   350,000  224,000 
Cost of sales 
Opening inventory 126,000  42,000 
Add purchases 294,000  168,000 
  420,000  210,000 
Less closing inventory (154,000) (266,000) (70,000) (140,000) 
Gross profit  84,000  84,000 
Expenses: 
Salaries and wages 19,600  14,000 
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  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Director’s remuneration 14,000  14,000 
Other expenses 15,400 (49,000) 11,200 (39,200) 
   35,000  44,800 
Less transfer to general reserve 2,800  2,800 
Dividends 35,000 (37,800) 28,000 30,800 
   (2,800)  14,000 
Retained profit brought forward  21,000  11,200 
Retained profit carried forward  18,200  25,200 
 
                                                                    Moon Ltd. and Sun Ltd. 
                                        Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023: 
  Moon Ltd. Sun Ltd. 
Non-current assets: Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh. “000” 
Equipment 28,000  7,000 
Depreciation on equipment (11,200) 16,800 (2,800) 4,200 
 
Motor vehicles  42,000  28,000 
Depreciation on motor vehicle (16,800) 25,200                  (9,800) 18,200 
   42,000  22,400 
Current assets: 
Inventories 154,000  70,000 
Trade receivable 87,500  28,000 
Bank                                                         10,500 252,000 14,000 112,000 
   294,000  134,400 
Capital and liabilities: 
Issued share capital  140,000  70,000 
Reserves: 
General reserves 9,800  16,800 
Retained profit 18,200                 28,000 25,200                 42,000 
   168,000  112,000 
Current liabilities: 
Trade payables 126,000 126,000 22,400                 22,400 
   294,000  134,400 
 
Required: 
Calculate the following ratios for each of the company: 
 
(i) Stock turnover.    (2 marks) 

 
(ii) Debtor sales ratio (in months).    (2 marks) 

 
(iii) Creditor purchases ratio (in months).    (2 marks) 

    (Total: 20 marks) 
 

………………………………………………………………………… 
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CIFA INTERMEDIATE LEVEL 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANALYSIS 
 
THURSDAY: 7 December 2023. Afternoon Paper. Time Allowed: 3 hours. 
 
Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of the question. Show ALL your workings. 
Do NOT write anything on this paper. 

 
QUESTION ONE 
(a) Explain the term “financial reporting framework” as used in financial statements analysis. (2 marks) 

(b) Describe THREE analytical tools and techniques used in financial statements analysis. (6 marks) 

(c) Analyse the recognition and measurement of non-current assets held for sale according to the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 5 – Non Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 

  (2 marks) 

(d) Propose FOUR indicators of poor quality financial statements. (4 marks) 

(e) Motown Ltd. sponsors a defined benefit pension plan. The corporation’s actuary provides the following 
information about the plan: 

 1 January 2022 31 December 2022 
Defined benefits obligation  Sh.2,500,000 Sh.3,300,000 
Plan assets (fair value) Sh.1,700,000 Sh.2,620,000 
Discount rate  10% 
Pension asset/liability Sh.800,000 ? 
Service cost for year 2022  Sh.400,000 
Contributions (funding in year 2022)  Sh.700,000 
Benefits paid in year 2022  Sh.200,000 
 
Required: 
Calculate the amount of other comprehensive income (gain/loss) as at 31 December 2022. Assume that on                     
1 January 2022 the balance was zero.   (6 marks) 

 (Total: 20 marks) 
 

 

QUESTION TWO 
(a) Explain “income smoothing patterns” as an earnings management strategy. (2 marks) 

(b) Analyst forecasts, reports and recommendations along with other alternative information sources are a major 
competitor for accounting information. 
 
Required: 
Explain THREE advantages offered by these alternative sources of information for analysis. (6 marks) 
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(c) The following information relates to Kiwi Ltd.: 
Kiwi Ltd. 

Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 
    

   2022 2021 
   Sh. Sh. 
Sales    1,782,254  1,636,298 
Cost of goods sold and operating expenses  (1,598,679)  (1,473,293) 
Operating profit   183,575  163,005  
Interest expense                  (20,843)              (21,825) 
Pretax profit   162,732  141,180 
Tax expense     (58,584)  (52,237) 
Net income   104,148    88,943 

 
Kiwi Ltd. 

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 
   2022 2021 
Assets:   Sh. Sh. 
Cash    71,456 115,397 
Marketable securities   43,854 38,008 
Accounts receivable (net)   182,859 177,538 
Inventories   256,838 204,362 
Total current assets   555,097 535,305 
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries  62,390 33,728 
Marketable securities   56,997 5,931 
Property, plant and equipment (net)  1,633,458 1,539,221 
Goodwill   6,550  6,550 
Total non-current assets       1,759,395 1,585,430 
Total assets       2,314,492 2,120,735 
Liabilities: 
Notes payable  13,734 7,850 
Accounts payable  155,482 138,662 
Taxes payable  13,256 24,370 
Current maturities of long term debt        33,822    30,440 
Current liabilities        216,294        201,322 
Long term debt  473,507 507,329 
Pension liabilities         852,237    743,779 
Total long term liabilities:  1,325,744 1,251,108 
Equity: 
Common stock  413,783 413,783 
Additional paid in capital  19,208 19,208 
Retained earnings  540,901 436,752 
Treasury stock       (201,438)  (201,438) 
Total stockholders’ equity       772,454  668,305 
Total liabilities and equity  2,314,492  2,120,735 
 
Required: 
Calculate the following for the year 2022: 

(i) Return on Net Operating Assets (RNOA).  (4 marks) 

(ii) Return on common equity (ROCE) as a function of return on Net Operating Assets (NOA), financial 
leverage and spread.  (4 marks) 

(d) Wyatt Ltd. has a deferred tax asset account with a balance of Sh.150,000 at the end of year 2021 due to a single 
cumulative temporary difference of Sh.375,000. At the end of year 2022, this same temporary difference has 
increased to a cumulative amount of Sh.500,000. Taxable income for year 2022 is Sh.850,000. The tax rate is 
30% for all years. 
 
Required: 
Determine and record income tax expense, deferred income taxes and income taxes payable for year 2022, 
assuming that it is probable that the deferred tax asset will be realised.  (4 marks) 

(Total: 20 marks) 
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QUESTION THREE 
On 1 October 2021, Hunters Limited acquired an 80% controlling interest in Spear Limited when retained earnings of 
Spear Limited amounted to Sh.230 million. The acquisition consideration comprised of an immediate cash payment of 
Sh.404 million and a share exchange on the basis of one (1) ordinary share of Hunters Limited for every two (2) ordinary 
shares acquired in Spear Limited. The fair value of Hunters Limited’s shares at 1 October 2021 was Sh.20 per share.                   
No accounting entries have been made in respect of the share exchange consideration.   
 
The following draft statements of financial position relate to Hunters Limited and Spear Limited as at 30 September 2023: 
 
Assets: Hunters Limited 

Sh.“000” 
Spear Limited 

Sh.“000” 
Non-current assets:   
Property, plant and equipment 1,196,500 544,800 
Investment     482,000 _______ 
 1,678,500 544,800 
Current assets:   
Inventory 107,200 120,000 
Trade receivables 135,900 70,700 
Cash and cash equivalents      12,600   11,700 
Total assets 1,934,200 747,200 
Equity and liabilities:   
Equity:   
Ordinary shares of Sh.10 par value 610,000 200,000 
Retained earnings     495,100 350,000 
Total equity 1,105,100 550,000 
Non-current liabilities:   
10% loan stocks 450,000 70,000 
Current liabilities:   
Trade payables 287,300 91,900 
Current tax      91,800   35,300 
Total equity and liabilities 1,934,200 747,200 
 
Additional information: 
1. The fair values of Spear Limited’s net assets approximated their carrying values with the exception of an item of 

plant whose fair value exceeded its carrying amount by Sh.50 million. The plant had a remaining useful life of 
five years on 1 October 2021. 

2. The group policy is to measure the non-controlling interests at their proportionate share of net assets in 
subsidiaries at the date of acquisition. 

3. During the year ended 30 September 2023, Spear Limited sold goods worth Sh.100 million to Hunters Limited 
and reported a gross profit margin of 20% on this sale. Three quarters of the goods had been sold to third parties 
by Hunters Limited as at 30 September 2023. 

4. On 1 October 2021, Hunters Limited also acquired 25% shareholding in Arrow Limited for Sh.78 million paid in 
cash. The retained earnings of Arrow Limited as at 30 September 2021 and 2023 were Sh.228 million and Sh.372 
million respectively. 

5. Impairment tests on 30 September 2023 revealed that goodwill on acquisition of Spear Limited was impaired to 
the extent of 10%. Investment in Arrow Limited was not impaired.  
 

Required: 
(a) Determine the value of investment in Arrow Limited as at 30 September 2023. (2 marks) 

(b) Calculate the value of goodwill arising on acquisition of Spear Limited. (6 marks) 

(c) Prepare a consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September 2023. (12 marks) 
 (Total: 20 marks) 

 
QUESTION FOUR 
(a) Highlight FOUR objectives of benchmarking to a financial analyst. (4 marks) 

(b) Explain THREE steps followed while conducting financial statements analysis. (6 marks) 

(c) The shareholders’ equity section of the statement of financial position for Kaunda Ltd. included the following 
accounts as at 31 December 2020. 
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Shareholder’ equity Sh.“million” 
Paid in capital: 
Common stock 120 million shares at Sh.1 par value  120 
Paid in capital in excess of par   836 
Retained earnings  2,449 
Total shareholders’ equity  3,405 
 
During the year 2021, the following transactions affected the stock of the firm: 
 
1. On March 2021, the firm issued 10 million of its 9.2% preferred shares, Sh.1 par value per share for 

Sh.44 per share. 
2. On November 2021, 1 million common share, Sh.1 par value per share, were issued in exchange for 

customised machine. The firm stock was listed at Sh.10 per share. 
3. On November 2021, 1 million of the common shares and Sh.1 million preferred shares were sold for 

Sh.60 million. The preferred shares had not traded since March and their market value was uncertain. 
4. The net income for 2021 was Sh.400 million and preferred shareholders were paid Sh.1 million cash 

dividends. 
 

During year 2022, the firm reacquired common shares and sold shares in two separate transactions later 
that year as follows: 

5. The firm purchased 6 million shares at Sh.10 per share. 
6. The firm sold 2 million shares at Sh.12 per share. 
7. The firm sold 2 million shares at Sh.7 per share. 
8. The net income for year 2022 was Sh.400 million and preferred shareholders were paid Sh.1 million cash 

dividends. 
 

 Required: 
 Prepare the shareholders’ equity section of the firm’s statement of financial position as at the years ended                         

31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 assuming the shares traded in 2022 are considered to be treasury stock. 
   (10 marks)   

(Total: 20 marks) 
 
 

QUESTION FIVE 
(a) Explain the term “DuPont analysis” as used in financial statement analysis. (2 marks) 

(b) Discuss THREE challenges currently facing financial analysts in your country while undertaking financial 
statements analysis. (6 marks) 

(c) Gerand Karim is a financial analyst who is following Tala Ltd., and has used the following proforma income 
statement and statement of financial position for year ended 31 October 2023 and is projecting the firm’s earnings 
per share for year ending 31 October 2024 and the statement of financial position for further analysis. He makes 
the following assumptions for year 2024 compared with year 2023: 

1. Unit sales will rise by 7% and prices will remain the same. 
2. Synergies from acquisitions will add an additional Sh.200 million to sales. 
3. Gross profit margin as a percentage of net sales will improve by 1.5 percentage points. 
4. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales will improve by 0.7 percentage 

points. 
5. Depreciation expense will rise by 5 per cent. 
6. Goodwill amortisation will rise by Sh.10 million. 
7. Long term debt expense will remain the same. 
8. Interest rates will decrease, reducing interest expense by Sh.10 million. 
9. The income tax rate will rise by 0.5%. 
10. Average share outstanding will remain the same. 
11. Dividend per share will rise by 10%. 
12. The average collection period of accounts receivable will decrease from 53 days to 48 days based on 

year-end accounts receivable. 
13. Average days inventory will decrease from 92 to 80 based on year-end inventory. 
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Selected projected items of the year 2024 statement of financial position are provided below: 
 

    Sh.“million” 
  Net property, plant and equipment  1,100 
  Intangibles  1,435 
  Current liabilities  531 
  Long-term debt  1,250 
   

The income statement for year ended 31 October 2023 is provided below: 
     

   (in Sh.“million”, except per share) 
   Sh.“million” 
  Net sales 6,000 
  Cost of goods sold (2,850) 
  Gross profit 3,150  
  Selling, general and administrative  (1,780) 
  Depreciation (280) 
  Goodwill amortisation    (25) 
  Operating income 1,065 
  Interest expense      (170) 
  Income before taxes 895 
  Income tax (300) 
  Net income   595 
  Diluted EPS 2.29 
  Average shares outstanding (millions) 260 
  Dividend per share 0.64 
   
  The statement of financial position as at 31 October 2023:  
   Sh.“million” 
  Net property, plant and equipment 1,050 
  Intangibles 1,400 
  Inventories 720 
  Accounts receivable 870 
  Cash          550 
  Total assets 4,590 
  Liabilities and equity: 
  Stockholders’ equity 2,840 
  Current liabilities 500 
  Long-term liabilities 1,250 
  Total liabilities 1,750 
  Total liabilities and equity 4,590 
   
  Assume 365 days in a year. 
   
  Required: 

 Prepare the following for the year ending 31 October 2024: 
 

(i) Projected income statement. (6 marks) 

(ii) Projected statement of financial position. (6 marks) 
  (Total: 20 marks) 

………………………………………………………………………… 
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CIFA INTERMEDIATE LEVEL 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANALYSIS 
 
THURSDAY: 24 August 2023. Afternoon Paper. Time Allowed: 3 hours. 
 
Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of the question. Show ALL your workings. 
Do NOT write anything on this paper. 

 
QUESTION ONE 
(a) Distinguish between “top-down approach” and “bottom-up approach” to analysing financial statements. (4 marks) 

(b) Explain THREE indicators of measuring quality of earnings of a company. (6 marks) 

(c) The following forecast information relates to Venus Ltd. for nine months up to March 2024: 

Forecast income statement for the three quarters ending 31 March 2024 is as follows: 
 

 30 September 2023 
Sh.“million” 

31 December 2023 
Sh.“million” 

31 March 2024 
Sh.“million” 

Sales 250 300 350 
Cost of sales (200) (240) (280) 
Gross profit 50 60 70 
Depreciation (3) (20) (4) 
Administration, selling and distribution expenses   (37)    (40)   (42) 
Forecast net income      10        0      24 

Extracts of the forecasted statements of financial position as at: 
 30 June 2023 30 September 2023 31 December 2023 31 March 2024 
Debit balance: Sh.“million” Sh.“million” Sh.“million” Sh.“million” 
Tangible fixed asset at cost 360 240 480 480 
90 days deposit at cost  15 5 5 10 
Inventory at cost 40 30 40 55 
Trade receivables 50 65 75 80 
Cash at bank and in hand 80 - - - 
Credit balance:     
10% debenture - - - 50 
Trade payable 80 120 140 150 
Taxation 8 - - - 
 
Additional information: 
1. Sale of tangible fixed assets in September 2023 will be expected to realise Sh.12 million in cash. 
2. Administration, selling and distribution expenses are expected to be settled during the months in which 

they will be incurred. 
3. Venus Ltd. includes liquid resources as term deposits of less than one year. 
4. The directors have proposed that a dividend of Sh.15 million to be paid on 31 August 2023. 
 
Required: 
A forecast statement of cash flows for the nine months ending 31 March 2024. (10 marks) 

 (Total: 20 marks) 
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QUESTION TWO 
(a) Analyse how climate change could affect the following areas of financial statements: 

 
(i) Property, plant and equipment (PPE). (2 marks) 

(ii) Impairment. (2 marks) 
 

(b) Comparative financial statements are commonly used for financial analysis for decision making, however they 
may have some limitations. 
 
Required: 
Explain THREE limitations of comparative financial statements while calculating ratios. (6 marks) 
 

(c) Platinum operates a defined benefit pension plan for its employees. As at 1 April 2022, the fair value of the 
pension plan assets was Sh.2,700,000 and the present value of the pension plan obligations was Sh.3,000,000.  
 
The service cost for the year ended 31 March 2023 was Sh.650,000. On 1 April 2022, the pension plan was 
amended to offer additional benefits to members resulting in past service costs of Sh.200,000. The relevant 
discount rate for the year ended 31 March 2023 was estimated at 5% and Platinum paid Sh.950,000 in 
contributions to the plan. The pension plan paid Sh.320,000 to retired members in the year ended 31 March 2023.  
 
As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of the pension plan assets was Sh.3,600,000 and the present value of the 
pension plan obligations was Sh.3,800,000. 
 
Required: 
Calculate the following in respect of Platinum pension plan: 
 
(i) The expense in the income statement for the year ended 31 March 2023. (2 marks) 

(ii) The amounts that will be included in other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2023.  
   (6 marks) 

(iii) The net pension asset or obligation (stating which) that will be included in the statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2023. (2 marks) 

 (Total: 20 marks) 
 
QUESTION THREE 
(a) Explain the term “earnings management”.    (2 marks) 

(b) Litmus Ltd. operates in hydro-chemical sector. In order to sell its product globally, it has been advised by global 
markets consultant Ltd. to enter into business combination with Catalyst Ltd. which is its competitor. In order to 
achieve this objective, Litmus Ltd. acquired all of the ordinary share capital of Catalyst Ltd. by way of a share 
exchange on 1 January 2023. 

The summarised financial statements of both companies for the year ended 30 June 2023 are as follows: 

Income statement for the year ended 30 June 2023: 
   Litmus Ltd. Catalyst Ltd. 
   Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Sales  24,000 20,000 
Cost of sales (16,600) (11,800) 
Gross profit 7,400 8,200 
Operating expenses    (1,600) (1,000) 
Profit before tax 5,800 7,200 
Taxation  (2,000) (3,000) 
Profit for the year     3,800     4,200 
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023: 
   Litmus Ltd. Catalyst Ltd. 
   Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Property, plant and equipment 64,000 35,000 
Investments - 12,800 
Inventory 22,800 23,600 
Trade receivables 16,400 24,200 
Bank      500         200  
  103,700 95,800 
 
   Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Equity and liabilities: 
Ordinary shares of Sh.1 each 20,000 12,000 
Share premium 4,000 2,400 
Retained earnings 57,200 42,700 
8% loan note 5,000 18,000 
Current liabilities:  
Trade payables 15,300 17,700 
Corporate tax  2,200                    3,000 
  103,700 95,800 
 
Additional information: 
1. Litmus Ltd. issued five of its own shares for every four shares in Catalyst Ltd. 
2. The market value of Litmus Ltd.’s share on 1 January 2023 was Sh.6 each. 
3. The share issue has not yet been recorded in the books of Litmus Ltd. 
4. The fair value of Catalyst Ltd.’s investment was Sh.5 million in excess of its book value at the date of 

acquisition. The fair values of Litmus Ltd.’s other net assets were equal to their book values. 
5. Goodwill was reviewed at 30 June 2023 and an impairment cost of Sh.3 million is to be recognised. 
6. No dividends have been paid by either company. 

 Required: 
 Prepare the following for the Litmus Ltd. Group: 
 

(i) Consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2023. (6 marks) 

(ii) Consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023. (12 marks) 
      (Total: 20 marks) 

 
 

QUESTION FOUR 
(a) The role of a financial statement analyst is to use financial reports prepared by an organisation together with other 

information, to evaluate the past, present and future performance of an organisation for the purpose of making 
investment, credit and other decisions. 
 
In relation to the above statement, outline FOUR types of economic decisions that a financial analyst could make 
from the analysis of financial statements of an organisation. (4 marks) 
 

(b) The profit after tax of Baragoh Ltd. for the year ended 30 September 2022 was Sh.15 million. As at 1 October 
2021, the company had in issue 36 million equity shares and Sh.10 million 8% convertible loan note. The loan 
note will mature in year 2023 and will be redeemed at par or converted to equity shares on the basis of 25 shares 
for each Sh.100 of loan note at the loan note holder’s option. On 1 January 2022, Baragoh Ltd. made a fully 
subscribed rights issue of one new share for every four shares held at a price of Sh.2.80 each. The market price of 
the equity shares of Baragoh Ltd. immediately before the issue was Sh.3.80. The earnings per share (EPS) 
reported for the year ended 30 September 2021 was Sh.0.35. Baragoh income tax rate is 25%. 
 
Required: 
Calculate the following for the year ended 30 September 2022: 
 
(i) Basic earnings per share (EPS) for Baragoh Ltd. (including comparatives). (4 marks) 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share (EPS) (comparatives not required) that would be disclosed for the year ended 
30 September 2022. (4 marks) 
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(c) The following financial statements were extracted from the books of Alpha Ltd. and Omega Ltd. for the year 
ended 31 March 2023: 
 
Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2023: 
  Alpha Ltd. Omega Ltd. 
  Sh.“million” Sh.“million” 
Revenue  1,699.815 2,058.96 
Cost of sales (1,171.045) (1,397.135) 
Gross profit 528.77 661.825 
Less: Operating expenses  (354.775)  (469.89) 
Net profit  173.995 191.935 
Less: Finance expenses    (22.31)  (31.625) 
Profit before tax 151.685 160.31 
Tax     (36.8)       (40.02) 
Profit for the year   114.885       120.29 
 
Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023: 
  Alpha Ltd. Omega Ltd. 
Non-current assets Sh.“million” Sh.“million” 
Land and building 414.00  586.5 
Furniture and fittings 100.65     104.88 
  514.05  691.38 
Current assets: 
Inventories 680.80  463.45 
Trade receivables 202.86  370.185 
Bank       97.29    105.34 
 980.95      938.975 
Total assets        1,495   1,630.355 
Capital and liabilities: 
Capital:  
Ordinary share capital 368.00  287.50 
Retained earning 422.74  718.29 
  790.74  1,005.79 
Non-current liabilities: 
Bank loan 218.50  287.50 
Current liabilities: 
Trade payable 467.36  317.055 
Tax       18.40       20.010 
  485.76    337.065 
Total capital and liabilities       1,495  1,630.355 
 
The following additional information is available: 
 
1. All purchases and sales were on credit. 
2. Alpha Ltd. and Omega Ltd. had announced their intention to pay dividend Sh.155.25 million and 

Sh.109.25 million respectively for the year ended 31 March 2023. 
3. The market value per share in Alpha Ltd. and Omega Ltd. at the end of the year were Sh.7.50 and Sh.9.40 

respectively. 
 
Required: 
For each company, calculate two ratios that are concerned with each of the following aspects: 
 
(i) Profitability. (2 marks) 

(ii) Liquidity. (2 marks) 

(iii) Gearing. (2 marks) 

(iv) Efficiency. (2 marks) 

   (Total: 20 marks) 
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QUESTION FIVE 
(a) Identify TWO challenges faced by a financial analyst when interpreting a particular firm’s restructuring charge.  
   (2 marks) 

(b) Describe TWO reasons why the statement of cash flow as a complement to the statement of financial position and 
the statement of profit or loss is an informative statement for analysts. (4 marks) 

(c) The following figures have been calculated from the financial statements (including comparatives) of Best Wishes 
Ltd. for the year ended 31 March 2023: 

1. Increase in profit after taxation 80%. 
2. Increase in (basic) earnings per share (BEP) 5%. 
3. Increase in (diluted) earnings per share (DEPS) 2%. 
 
Required: 
With reference to the above information, explain TWO reasons why measures of earnings (profits) growth for the 
same company over the same period can give apparently differing impressions. (4 marks) 

(d) The following information has been extracted from the books of Maridadi Ltd. for the year ended 30 June 2023: 

   Sh.“000” 
Ordinary shares (900,000 ordinary shares of Sh.500 each) 450,000 
Retained earnings at the beginning as ordinarily reported 257,500 
250,000, 12% preference shares of Sh.500 each  125,000 
Dividends  40,000 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  52,500 
Prior period adjustment (credit to retained earnings) 12,500 
Cost of goods sold 950,000 
Income tax expense (savings):  Continuing operations 80,000 
 Extraordinary gains 25,000 
 Discontinued operations 20,000 
Selling expenses  195,000 
Sales revenue  1,550,000 
Finance expense  75,000 
Extra ordinary gain  65,000 
Income for discontinued operations  50,000 
Loss due to court cases  27,500 
General expenses  155,000 
Assume corporation tax rate of 30%. 
 
Required: 
(i) A single step statement of profit or loss (with all revenues and gains grouped together) for the year ended                  

30 June 2023. (6 marks) 

(ii) Statement of retained earnings for the year ended 30 June 2023. (4 marks) 
   (Total: 20 marks) 
………………………………………………………………………… 
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CIFA INTERMEDIATE LEVEL 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANALYSIS 
 
THURSDAY: 27 April 2023. Afternoon Paper. Time Allowed: 3 hours. 
 
Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of the question. Show ALL your workings. 
Do NOT write anything on this paper. 

 
QUESTION ONE 
(a) Distinguish between “net free cash flow” and “free cash flow”. (2 marks) 

(b) Summarise TWO categories of accounting changes.  (2 marks) 

(c)  Extracts from the financial statements of Molo Ltd. is provided below: 

Statement of profit or loss for years ended 31 December: 
 2021 2022 
 (Sh.“million”) (Sh.“million”) 
Revenue  8.0   9.5    
Operating profit (loss) (2.0)  1.9 
Interest payable (2.4) (1.5) 
Profit/(loss) before taxation (4.4)  0.4  
 
There was no charge for taxation and no dividends were paid in respect of any of these two years. 
 

Statement of financial position as at 31 December: 
 2021 2022 
Assets: (Sh.“million”) (Sh.“million”) 
Non-current assets: 
Property, plant and equipment at cost  23.9  24.0 
Depreciation (12.0) (14.0) 
 11.9   10.0  
Current assets: 
Inventories   3.5      3.8 
Trade receivables   2.6    4.1 
   6.1    7.9 
Total assets 18.0  17.9 
Equity and liabilities: 
Equity: 
Ordinary shares  1.0  1.0 
Reserves  3.0    3.4 
  4.0  4.4 
Non-current liabilities: 
Borrowings-loan notes  8.2    7.4 
Current liabilities: 
Trade payables  1.7    1.9 
Short-term borrowings (all bank overdraft)   4.1    4.2 
   5.8    6.1 
Total equity and liabilities  18.0  17.9 
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Required: 
Calculate for each year, the following ratios for Molo Ltd.: 

(i) Return on capital employed (ROCE) ratio.  (2 marks) 

(ii) Acid test ratio. (1 mark) 

(iii) Trade receivables settlement period ratio. (1 mark) 

(iv) Interest coverage ratio. (1 mark) 

(v) Gearing ratio. (1 mark) 

(vi) Analyse the above ratios for the management of Molo Ltd. (4 marks) 
 

(d) In relation to qualitative characteristics of financial reporting information: 
 

(i) Outline TWO fundamental qualitative characteristics of useful financial information. (2 marks) 

(ii) Explain TWO enhancing qualitative characteristics of useful financial information. (4 marks) 
 (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION TWO 
(a) Distinguish between “defined contribution plan” and “defined benefit plan”. (4 marks) 

(b) Explain the impact of the following assumptions used on the defined benefit obligations and period expenses: 

(i) Discount rates. (2 marks) 

(ii) Return on plan assets. (2 marks) 

(c) Identify FOUR purposes of financial statement analysis. (4 marks) 

(d) At 31 December 2022, the financial statements for Mwihukoh Ltd. included the following: 

• The net income for the year 2022 (including a net of tax loss from discontinued operations of Sh.10 
million) was Sh.180 million 

• Outstanding shares on 1 January 2022 (Sh.1 par value) was 44 million 
• The share price at 1 January 2022 was Sh.25 and Sh.28 at the end of the year 2022. 
 
Additional information: 
1. At 1 January 2022, Sh.200 million of 8% convertible loan notes were outstanding. The loan notes were 

converted on 1 April 2022 into 16 million ordinary shares. 
2. An agreement with the company executives calls for the issuance of up to 12 million of additional 

ordinary shares in the year 2023 and 2024 based on Mwihukoh’s net income in the two years. Executives 
will receive 2 million ordinary shares at the end of each of those two years if the company’s share price 
is at least Sh.26 and another 4 million shares each year if the share price is at least Sh.29.50. 

3. The corporate tax rate is 30%. 
 

Required: 
Compute the following for the year ended 31 December 2022: 
 
(i) Basic earnings per share. (3 marks) 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share. (5 marks) 
(Total: 20 marks) 
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QUESTION THREE 
Perkah Ltd. operates in Agro-business sector. In order to sell its products globally, it has been advised by Smart Marketing 
Consultant Ltd. to enter into business combination with Avocado Ltd. which is its competitor. In order to achieve this 
objective, Perkah Ltd. acquired all of the ordinary shares capital of Avocado Ltd. by way of share exchange on 1 October 
2022. 

 
The summarised financial statements of both companies for the year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows: 

 
Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2023: 

   Perkah Avocado 
   Sh.“000”  Sh.“000” 

Sales    24,000 20,000  
Cost of sales   (16,600) (11,800) 
Gross profit    7,400 8,200 
Operating expenses           (1,600) (1,000) 
Profit before tax   5,800 7,200 
Corporate tax      (2,000)  (3,000)  
Profit for the year             3,800       4,200 
 
Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023: 
Assets:    Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Property, plant and equipment  64,000 35,000 
Investment   - 12,800 
Inventory   22,800 23,600 
Trade receivables   16,400 24,200 
Bank                             500     200 
    103,700 95,800 
 
Equities and liabilities:  
Ordinary share Sh.1 par value  20,000 12,000 
Share premium   4,000 2,400 
Retained earnings   57,200 42,700 
8% loan note   5,000 18,000 
Trade payables   15,300 17,700 
Taxation                               2,200     3,000 
    103,700 95,800 

 

Additional information: 
1. Perkah Ltd. issued five (5) of its own ordinary shares for every four (4) ordinary shares of Avocado Ltd. on                   

1 October 2022. 
2. The market value of Perkah Ltd. ordinary shares on 1 October 2022 was Sh.6 each. The shares issue has not yet 

been recorded in Perkah Ltd.’s books. 
3. The fair value of Avocado Ltd.’s investment was Sh.5 million in excess of its book value at the date of acquisition.  
4. The fair value of Perkah Ltd. other assets were equal to their book value. 
5. Goodwill was on 31 March 2023 valued at Sh.27 million. 
6. No dividends have been paid by either company. 
7. Incomes and expenses accrued evenly throughout the year. 

 

 
Required: 
Applying International Accounting Standards (IAS) 1 – Presentation of financial statement, prepare the following: 

 

(a) Consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2023.  (6 marks) 

(b) Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2023. (4 marks) 

(c) Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023. (10 marks) 
     (Total: 20 marks) 
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QUESTION FOUR 
(a) Marketing benchmarks are standard measurements that are used to compare company’s results to those of their 

competitors or industry. 
 

With reference to the above statement, explain FOUR industry metrics that reflects on company’s performance.  
      (8 marks) 
 

(b) The following information were obtained from the accounting records of Ramayan Ltd. for the year ended                    
31 March 2023: 
 

  Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 
   Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Sales     837,600 
Cost of goods sold   (624,000) 
Gross profit    213,600 
Other incomes: 
Interest income received   7,200 
Gain on sale of investments   14,400 
    235,200 
Less expenses: 
Operating expenses  132,000 
Depreciation  44,400 
Interest expense paid  27,600 
Loss on sale of plant           3,600 (207,600) 
     27,600 
Income tax                         (8,400) 
Net profit after tax                      19,200 
     

Comparative statement of financial position as at: 
    31 March 2023 31 March 2022 

   Sh.“000”  Sh.“000” 
Non-current assets: 
Plant and equipment  858,000  606,000 
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (123,600)  (81,600) 
   734,400 524,400 
Investments  138,000 152,400 
Current assets: 
Inventory  172,800 132,000 
Accounts receivable  56,400 66,000 
Cash    55,200 18,000 
Prepaid expenses                      1,200              6,000 
   1,158,000 898,800 
Financed by: 
Share capital  558,000 378,000 
Reserves and surplus  168,000 158,400 
Bonds   354,000 294,000 
Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable  60,000 51,600 
Accrued liabilities  14,400 10,800 
Income taxes payable                      3,600          6,000 
   1,158,000 898,800 
Additional information: 
The following transactions took place during the year ended 31 March 2023: 
1. Purchased investments for Sh.93,600,000. 
2. Sold investments for Sh.122,400,000. 
3. Purchased plant and equipment for Sh.144,000,000. 
4. Sold a plant that cost Sh.12,000,000 with accumulated depreciation of Sh.2,400,000 for Sh.6,000,000. 
5. Issued Sh.120,000,000 bonds at face value in an exchange for a plant on 31 March 2023. 
6. Repaid Sh.60,000,000 bonds at face value at maturity. 
7. Issued 15,000,000 ordinary shares at Sh.12 each. 
8. Paid cash dividends for Sh.9,600,000. 
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 Required: 
 A cash flow statement in accordance with the “International Accounting Standard 7” – Statements of Cash Flows 

using indirect method for the year ended 31 March 2023. (12 marks) 
   (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION FIVE 
(a) Highlight SIX limitations of financial statement analysis. (6 marks) 

(b) Haboh Ltd.’s sales for the year 2022 was Sh.4,022,000. Accounts receivable amounted to Sh.655,000 at the 
beginning of year 2022 and Sh.612,000 at the end of year 2022. The firm has generated a compound annual sales 
growth rate of 13% over the past two years.  

A financial analyst assumes that: 

1. The company’s sales will continue to grow at 13% each year for the next five years. 
2. The accounts receivable turnover for the next five years will equal the ratio computed for the year 2022.  
 
Required: 
(i) Calculate the accounts receivable turnover for the year 2022 using the average balance method. (1 mark) 

(ii) Project the amount of accounts receivable at year end 2023 through year 2027. (3 marks) 

(c) Financial shenanigans and red flags is a real threat to any business today. 
 

Highlight SIX sources that could be used when investigating red flags and financial shenanigans. (6 marks) 
 

(d) Riziki Ltd. purchased an item of plant for Sh.2 million on October 2019. The item had an estimated useful life of 
eight years and estimated residual value of Sh.400,000. 

 
 Additional information: 

1. The plant is depreciated on a straight line basis. 
2. The tax authorities do not allow depreciation as a deductible expenses, instead a tax expenses of 40% of 

the cost of this type of an asset can be claimed against taxable income in the year of purchase and 20% 
per annum (on a reducing balance basis) of its tax base thereafter. 

3. The corporate rate is 25%. 
 

Required: 
In respect of the above item of plant, calculate the amount of deferred tax charged or credited in Riziki Ltd.’s 
statement of comprehensive income for the year to 30 September 2022. (4 marks) 

   (Total: 20 marks) 
………………………………………………………………………… 
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CIFA INTERMEDIATE LEVEL 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANALYSIS 
 
THURSDAY: 8 December 2022. Afternoon Paper. Time Allowed: 3 hours. 
 
Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of the question. Show ALL your workings. 
Do NOT write anything on this paper. 

 
QUESTION ONE 
(a) With reference to International Accounting Standards (IAS) 31, Interest in Joint Ventures, describe TWO types of 

joint ventures. (4 marks) 
 

(b) Analyse the accounting treatment of a material prior period error. (4 marks) 
 

(c) Pluto Ltd. leases out a machine to Jupiter Ltd. under finance lease agreement. The agreement states that the lease 
period will be for five years starting on 1 January 2019. Rent payable is Sh.3,600,000 per annum (in arrears). 
 
Jupiter Ltd. has the right to continue the lease after the five years are over to an indefinite period at a nominal rent. 
The cash price of the machine as at 1 January 2019 was Sh.13,646,400. The interest implicit in the lease is 12%. 
 
Required: 
(i) Applying International Accounting Standards (IAS) 17- Leases, record the above accounting transactions in 

Pluto Ltd. books. (7 marks) 
 

(ii) Prepare receipts schedule. (5 marks) 
 (Total: 20 marks) 
 

 
QUESTION TWO 
(a) Explain TWO benefits of analysing a set of financial statements in the context of market efficiency. (4 marks) 

 
(b) Ruenzori Ltd. uses zero coupon notes to raise capital. On 1 January 2022, Ruenzori Ltd. borrowed money from a 

bank by issuing a Sh.100 million promissory note to the bank. The note matures in five years on 1 January 2027 and 
pays 5% interest once a year on 1 January. The bank transfers Sh.95.79 million to Ruenzori Ltd. 
 
Required: 
(i) Calculate the total interest cost on the note. (2 marks) 

 
(ii) Calculate the effective rate of return on the loan. (4 marks) 

 
(c) The following is an extract of income statement for Raymond Ltd. for the year ended 31 December 2020 and                   

31 December 2021: 
  
  2020 2021 
  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Sales  8,296 8,871 
Cost of goods sold (5,890) (6,290) 
Selling and administrative expenses (1,788) (1,714) 
Operating income before taxes      618      867 
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An analyst decides to estimate the variable cost as a percentage of sales for a particular cost by dividing the amount 
of the change in the cost item between two years by the amount of change in sales for those two years.  
 
The analyst then multiplies total sales by the variable cost percentage to determine the total variable cost. 
Subtracting the variable cost from the total cost yields the fixed cost component for that particular cost item. 
Raymond Ltd. expects sales to grow by 12% in year 2022. 
 
Required: 
(i) Determine sales, cost of goods sold, selling and administrative expenses and operating income before 

income taxes for the year 2022. (8 marks) 
 

(ii) Compute the ratio of operating income before income taxes to sales for year 2022. (2 marks) 
(Total: 20 marks) 

 

QUESTION THREE 
(a) Outline FOUR motivations for earnings manipulation by a firm.    (4 marks) 

 
(b) List FOUR limitations of a cash flow statements.     (4 marks) 

 
(c) Explain how the income taxes affect the principal financial statements.   (2 marks) 

 

(d) The following information was extracted from the books of Bingo Ltd. for the year ended 31 March 2022: 
  
  Sh.“million”  

Sales: Food Products 6,780  
 Plastics 750  
 Pharmaceuticals 414  
 Others     194.4  
  
 

Expenses: Food Products 4,002  
 Plastics 510  
 Pharmaceuticals 266.4  
 Others            240       
 

Other items: 
General operating expenses  (674.4) 
Income from investment      158.4 
Interest expenses (78) 
 

Identifiable assets: 
 Food Products 8,784  
 Plastics 1,584  
 Pharmaceuticals 1,260  
 Others     798  
         
General assets         866.4 
 
Additional information: 
1. Inter-segment sales for the year ended 31 March 2022 were as follows: 

 

  Sh.“million” 
 Food Products  66 
 Plastics  86.4  
 Pharmaceuticals   25.2  
 Others 8.4  
2. Operating profits includes Sh.39.6 million on inter-segment sales. 
3. Information about inter-segment expenses is not available. 

 
Required: 
Prepare segmental financial information in accordance to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 8,      
Operating Segments.     (10 marks) 
     (Total: 20 marks) 
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QUESTION FOUR 
(a) Discuss THREE criticisms of Earnings Per Share (EPS) as a measure of profitability.  (6 marks) 

 
(b) Paul Mwangi gathered the following information relating to the consumer loan credit quality profile: 

 
As at 31 December:  2021 2020 2019 
  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Strong credit quality  338,948 327,345 320,340 
Good credit quality 52,649 54,515 54,050 
Satisfactory credit quality 51,124 55,311 56,049 
Substandard credit quality 23,696 24,893 27,525 
Past due but not impaired asset 2,823 2,314 2,058 
Impaired asset        8,804     9,345   10,235 
Total gross amount 478,044 473,723 470,257 
Impairment allowance (5,500) (4,500) (4,000) 
Total:   472,544 469,223 466,257 
 
Required: 
Analyse the factors affecting the trend in impairment allowances.     (4 marks) 
      

(c) Agano Ltd. operates a defined benefit pension plan. The following financial data relates to the scheme for the past 
three years ended 31 March: 2020, 2021 and 2022. 
 
Year ended 31 March:  2020 2021 2022 
Discount rate at the beginning of the year  10% 9% 8% 
Expected rate of return on plan assets 12% 11% 10% 
 
  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Current service cost  130,000 140,000 150,000 
Benefit paid  150,000 180,000 190,000 
Contribution paid  90,000 100,000 110,000 
Present value of obligation as at 31 March:  1,100,000 1,380,000 1,408,000 
Fair value of plan assets as at 31 March:  1,190,000 1,372,000 1,188,000 
 
The present value of obligations and the fair value of plan assets were both Sh.1,000,000,000 each as at 1 April 
2019. The company reports all actuarial gains and losses arising in a year directly in the retained profits. 
 
Required: 
 
(i) Determine the actual gain or losses for each of the years ended 31 March: 2020, 2021 and 2022. (6 marks) 
  
(ii) Prepare the income statement expenses for each of the years ended 31 March: 2020, 2021 and 2022.  

 (2 marks) 
 
(iii) Prepare the asset or liability to be reported in the statements of financial position as at 31 March: 2020, 

2021 and 2022.   (2 marks) 
(Total: 20 marks) 

 
QUESTION FIVE 
(a) The following trial balance was extracted from the books of Parkar Ltd as at 30 September 2022: 
 

  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Ordinary shares (each share Sh.20 par value)  180,000   
Share premium   12,000 
Retained profit (1 October 2021)   15,240 
Deferred Tax   16,980 
Bank and cash balance    22,640  
Investment at fair value   53,880  
Land   40,200  
Buildings   85,200  
Plant and machinery   433,200  
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  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Accumulated depreciation                       

  Building  12,780 
  Plant and machinery    255,420 
  Revenue   400,000 

Cost of sales   131,340  
Inventory (30 September 2022)   12,900  
Distribution costs   13,380  
Administrative expenses    22,680   
Income tax   17,160  
Investment property at fair value  
(1 October 2021)   40,680  
Finance cost   14,040  
8% Redeemable preference shares   30,000  
10% debentures                       60,000 

  Intangible assets 68,400    
  Trade receivables and trade payables     37,400   10,680 
      993,100 993,100 
 

Additional information: 
1. Inventory as at 30 September 2022 included partially damaged and slow moving goods. The cost 

of these goods was Sh.900,000 and they were eventually sold in October 2022 for Sh.256,800. 
2. The fair value of the investment property on 30 September 2022 was Sh.41,580,000. 
3. The following details are relevant to the property, plant and equipment: 

 

• On 30 September 2022, the land and building were revalued to Sh.51 million and Sh.91.2 
million respectively. The new values were to be included in the financial statements for 
the year ended 30 September 2022. 

• Plant and machinery are depreciated on a straight line basis over 10 years. 
• Buildings are depreciated at 21/2% per annum on straight line basis. 
• Depreciation for the current year has been provided. 

 
4. Information relating to intangible assets was as follows: 

The intangible assets include: 
    Cost  Accumulated  
     Amortisation 

  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Development cost on software   
(it is to be amortised over 5 years)  51,600 30,960 
Patent   31,200 - 
Research cost   16,560 - 
 
• The patent was acquired on 1 November 2019. It was determined that the patent had an 

indefinite useful life when it was acquired. However, on 1 October 2021 due to a new 
competitor gaining grounds on the company’s technology, the patent’s fair value was 
estimated to be Sh.27 million with estimated useful life of 3 years. 

 
• The research cost was incurred during the year in developing new software which was 

not successful. 
    

5. Finance costs comprised:   Sh.“000” 
Interim dividend paid on ordinary shares  8,880 
Dividends paid on redeemable preference shares 2,400 
Interest on debentures   6,000 
Investment income from tax exempt companies (3,240)  
     14,040 

 
6. The balance on the income tax in the trial balance represents the amount paid for the year. The tax 

expenses for the year is estimated to be Sh.15,540,000 inclusive of an increase in deferred tax 
liability of Sh.2,040,000. 

7. The directors approved the issue of one bonus share for every 9 shares held at par value. 
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Required: 
  Prepare the following: 
 

(i) Comprehensive income statement for year ended 30 September 2022.  (6 marks) 
  

(ii) Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 September 2022. (4 marks) 
 
(iii) Statement of financial position as at 30 September 2022. (10 marks) 

   (Total: 20 marks) 
………………………………………………………………………… 
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CIFA INTERMEDIATE LEVEL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ANALYSIS 

TUESDAY: 2 August 2022. Afternoon paper. Time Allowed: 3 hours. 

Answer ALL questions. Marks allocated to each question are shown at the end of the question. Show ALL your workings. 
Do NOT write anything on this paper. 

QUESTION ONE 
(a) Highlight six steps to developing an effective analysis of financial statements. (6 marks) 

(b) Sustainability investing is an approach to investment where environmental, social or governance factors (ESG) in
combination with financial considerations, guide the selection and management of investment.

Required:
In relation to the above statement, discuss three reasons why the disclosure of sustainable information has become
an important part and influential consideration for investors. (6 marks)

(c) The new owners of EMCO Software Limited changed the firm’s pension scheme on 30 September 2021 to include
all of its staff. The benefits accrue from the date of their employment, but only vest after two years of additional
service from 30 September 2021. The net pension obligation at 30 September 2021 was Sh.78 million which has
been updated to include this change. During the year, benefits of Sh.6 million were paid under the scheme and
EMCO Limited contributed Sh.10 million to the scheme. These payments had been recorded in the financial
statements. The following information relates to the pension scheme:

Sh.“million” 
Net pension obligation at 30 September 2021 78 
Net pension obligation at 30 September 2020 59 
Service costs for the year 18 
Past service cost relating to scheme amendment at  30 September 2021 9 
Discount rate at 30 September 2020 5.5% 
Discount rate at 30 September 2021 5.9% 
EMCO Limited has a profit before tax for the year ended 30 September 2021 of Sh.25 million 

Required: 
(i) Determine the amount to be reported in other comprehensive income (OCI) after remeasurement of the

defined benefit obligation. (5 marks)

(ii) Adjust the profit before tax to account for the remeasurement of the defined benefit obligation. (3 marks)
(Total: 20 marks) 

QUESTION TWO 
(a) (i) Explain the term “creative accounting”. (2 marks) 

(ii) Describe four examples of creative accounting. (4 marks) 
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(b) The following are summarised financial statements for Babito Ltd. with accounting year ending on 31 March 2021 
and 31 March 2022:  
 

Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 March: 
  2021 2022 
Assets:  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh. “000” 
Non current assets  4,995  12,700 
Current assets: 
Inventories 40,145  50,455 
Trade receivables 40,210  43,370 
Bank   12,092 92,447                 5,790                99,615 
Total assets  97,442  112,315 
Equity and liability: 
Sh.0.25 ordinary share 9,920  9,920 
Retained earnings 30,820 40,740 40,080 50,000 
Non current liability: 
10% debentures 2015/2016  19,840  19,840 
Current liabilities: 
Trade payables  32,604  37,230 
Taxation                                                 4,258 36,862                 5,245                  42,475 
Total equity and liabilities  97,442  112,315 
 
Summarised income statement for the year ended 31 March:  
  2021 2022 
  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Revenues  486,300 583,900 
Profit from operations 17,238 20,670 
Interest payable (1,984) (1,984) 
Profit for the year before tax                  15,254 18,686 
Tax   (5,734) (7,026) 
Profit for the year after tax              9,520 11,660 
 
There was no other comprehensive income in the period  
 
Summarised statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March: 
  2021 2022 
  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Retained earnings brought forward 23,540 30,820 
Total comprehensive income for the year 9,520 11,660 
Dividends (2,240) (2,400) 
Retained earnings carried forward 30,820 40,080 
 

Required: 
For each year, compute two ratios for each of the following user groups, which are of particular significance to 
them: 
 

(i) Shareholders.     (4 marks) 
 

(ii) Creditors.     (4 marks) 
 

(iii) Internal management.     (4 marks) 
 

(iv) Examine two advantages of ratio analysis.     (2 marks) 
    (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION THREE 
(a) Grace Mambo has gathered the following research notes for the following three companies that reflect trends during 

the last three years: 
 

Nkubu Ltd. 
Note 1: Operating income has been much lower than operating cash flow (OCF). 
Note 2: Accounts payable has increased, while accounts receivable and inventory have substantially decreased. 
Note 3: Although OCF was positive, it was just sufficient to cover capital expenditures, dividends and debt 

repayments. 
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Tororo Ltd. 
Note 4: Operating margins have been relatively constant. 
Note 5: Growth rate in revenue has exceeded the growth rate in receivables. 
Note 6: OCF was stable and positive, close to its reported net income and just sufficient to cover capital 

expenditures, dividends and debt repayments. 
 

Kisauni Ltd. 
Note 7: OCF has been more volatile than that of other industry participants. 
Note 8: OCF has fallen short of covering capital expenditure, dividends and debt repayment. 
 

Required: 
Citing relevant reasons, determine the company that would be described as having high quality cash flow. (6 marks) 
 

(b) The comparative statements of financial position as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 and the income 
statement for the year 2021 for Bidii Ltd. are provided below: 
 

                                                                         Bidii Ltd. 
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020: 
 2021 2020 
  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Cash  24,000 41,000 
Accounts receivable 94,000 96,000 
Investments revenue receivable 3,000 2,000 
Inventory 115,000 110,000 
Prepaid insurance 2,000 3,000 
Long term investments 77,000 60,000 
Land 110,000 80,000 
Patent 15,000 16,000 
Property, plant and equipment 220,000 240,000 
Less accumulated depreciation (35,000) (60,000) 
 625,000 588,000 
Liabilities: 
Accounts payable 23,000 30,000 
Salaries payable 2,000 5,000 
Interest payable 4,000 2,000 
Income tax payable 6,000 8,000 
Deferred tax liability 5,000 4,000 
Notes payable 15,000 - 
Bonds payable 150,000 130,000 
Less discount on bonds (9,000) (10,000) 
Shareholders equity: 
Ordinary shares 210,000 200,000 
Paid in capital – excess of par 44,000 40,000 
Retained earnings 182,000 179,000 
Less treasury bills (at cost)                    (7,000)                   - 
 625,000 588,000 
 

                                                Bidii Ltd. 
Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2021  
  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Revenues: 
Sales revenue 200,000 
Investment revenue 6,000 
Gain on sale of treasury bills                1,000 207,000 
Expenses and losses: 
Cost of goods sold 110,000 
Salaries expense 30,000 
Depreciation expenses 5,000 
Amortisation expenses 1,000 
Insurance expense 3,000 
Interest expense 14,000 
Loss on sale of equipment 10,000 
Income tax expense                                7,000 (180,000) 
Net income                27,000 
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Additional information: 
1. Investment revenue includes Bidii Ltd.’s Sh.3 million share of the net income of Tobiko Ltd., an equity 

method investee. 
2. Treasury bills were sold during the year 2021 at a gain of Sh.1 million. Bidii Ltd. classifies its investments 

in Treasury bills as cash equivalents. 
3. Equipment that originally cost Sh.60 million and was one half depreciated was rendered unusable. The 

major components of the equipment were sold for Sh.20 million. 
4. Temporary differences between pre-tax accounting income and taxable income caused the deferred tax 

liability to increase by Sh.1 million. 
5. The ordinary shares of Murinduko Ltd. was purchased for Sh.14 million as a long term investment. 
6. Land costing Sh.30 million was acquired by paying Sh.15 million in cash and issuing a 13% seven year, 

Sh.15 million note payable to the seller. 
7. New equipment was purchased for Sh.40 million cash. 
8. Sh.20 million bonds were issued at face value. 
9. On 19 January 2020, Bidii Ltd. issued a 5% stock dividend (1 million shares). The market price of the 

Sh.10 par value ordinary shares was Sh.14 per share at that time. 
10. Cash dividends of Sh.10 million were paid to shareholders. 
11. In November 2020, 500,000 ordinary shares were repurchased as treasury stock at a cost of Sh.7 million. 
 
Required: 
Statement of cash flows for Bidii Ltd. for the year ended 31 December 2021 using the direct method. (14 marks) 
     (Total: 20 marks)  
 

QUESTION FOUR 
(a) In relation to segment reporting: 

 
(i) Explain what is involved in financial reporting for segment of a business enterprise.  (2 marks) 

 
(ii) Evaluate two accounting difficulties inherent in segment reporting.   (4 marks) 

 
(b) The statement of comprehensive income for three entities for the year ended 31 March 2022 are presented below: 

   BH Ltd. NJ Ltd. MK Ltd. 
  Sh.“000” Sh.“000” Sh.“000” 
Revenue  3,360 3,240 2,390 
Cost of sales (1,800) (1,860) (1,380) 
Gross profit 1,560 1,380 1,010 
Administrative expenses (380) (340) (250) 
Distribution costs (400) (300) (150) 
Investment income 80 - - 
Finance costs (180) (140) (110) 
Profit before tax 680 600 500 
Income tax expense (200) (160) (150) 
Profit for the year 480 440 350 
Other comprehensive income: 
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 70 40 30 
Gain on investment in NJ Ltd. and MK Ltd. 96 - - 
Tax effect of other comprehensive income                                 (50)                     (16)                     (10) 
Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax                  116                      24                       20    
Total comprehensive income for the year                                  596                     464                     370 
 
Additional information: 
1. BH Ltd. acquired a 25% investment in NJ Ltd. on 1 September 2013 for Sh.300,000. The investment was 

classified as available for sale and the gains earned on it have been recorded within other comprehensive 
income in BH Ltd.’s individual financial statements. The fair value of the 25% investments at 31 March 
2021 was Sh.400,000 and at 1 January 2022 was Sh.425,000. BH Ltd. was not able to exercise significant 
influence over the financial and operating policies of NJ Ltd. 
 
On 1 January 2022, BH Ltd. acquired an additional 40% of the 1 million Sh.1 equity shares of NJ Ltd. for 
Sh.680,000. The retained reserves of NJ Ltd. that date were Sh.526,000. The group policy is to value the 
non-controlling interest at its fair value at the date of acquisition. The non-controlling interest had a fair 
value of Sh.581,000 at 1 January 2022. NJ Ltd. lost a key customer in February 2022 and BH Ltd.’s 
directors have decided that goodwill on acquisition is impaired by 10% at 31 March 2022. Impairment 
losses are charged to group administrative expenses. 
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The investment in NJ Ltd. continues to be held as an available for sale asset in BH Ltd. individual financial 
statements and recorded at its fair value of Sh.1,170,000 at 31 March 2022. The total gains recorded to date 
in respect of NJ Ltd. are Sh.190,000 of which Sh.90,000 occurred in the year and are included in the other 
comprehensive income of BH Ltd. 

2. BH Ltd. acquired 40% of the equity share capital of MK Ltd. for Sh.334,000 on 1 October 2021. The 
investment was classified as available for sale and the gains earned on it since its acquisition have been 
recorded within other comprehensive income in the years in BH Ltd.’s individual financial statements. The 
fair value of this available for sale assets at 31 March 2022 was Sh.370,000. BH Ltd. exercises significant 
influence over the financial and operating policies of MK Ltd. 
 

A new competitor has recently entered the market in which MK Ltd. operates and it is likely that this will 
have an immediate impact on MK Ltd.’s profits in the coming period. As a result, the directors of BH Ltd. 
have decided that the investment in MK Ltd. should be subject to 10% impairment at 31 March 2021. 

3. NJ Ltd. sold goods to BH Ltd. in January 2022 for Sh.200,000. Half of these items remain in BH Ltd.’s 
inventories at the year end. NJ Ltd. earns a 20% gross margin on all sales. 

4. The profits of all the three entities can be assumed to accrue evenly throughout the year. Assume there is no 
further impact to income tax figures. 

5. MK Ltd. paid a dividend of Sh.80,000 to its equity shareholders on 31 March 2022. BH Ltd. included its 
share of the dividend in investment income. 

 
Required: 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for BH Ltd. group for the year ended 31 March 2022.  (14 marks) 
     (Total: 20 marks) 
 

QUESTION FIVE 
(a) Insta Ltd. has several investments in the securities of other companies. The following information regarding these 

investments is available as at 31 December 2021: 
 
1. Insta Ltd. holds bonds issued by Kanunga Ltd. The bonds have an amortised cost of Sh.320,000 and their 

fair value at 31 December 2021 is Sh.400,000. Insta Ltd. intends to hold the bonds until they mature on               
31 December 2029. 

2. Insta Ltd. has invested idle cash in the equity securities of several publicly traded companies. Insta Ltd. 
intends to sell these securities during the first quarter of 2022, when it needs the cash to acquire seasonal 
inventory. Those equity securities have a cost basis of Sh.800,000 and a fair value of Sh.920,000 at 31 
December 2021. 

3. Insta Ltd. has a significant ownership in one of the companies that supplies it with various components. 
Insta Ltd. owns 6% of the ordinary shares of the supplier and does not have any representation on the 
supplier’s board of directors, does not exchange any personnel with the supplier and does not consult with 
the supplier or any of the supplier’s operating, financial or strategic decisions. The cost basis of the 
investment in the supplier is Sh.1,200,000 and the fair value of the investment at 31 December 2021, is 
Sh.1,550,000. Insta Ltd. does not intend to sell the investment in the foreseeable future. The supplier 
reported net income of Sh.80,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 and paid no dividends. 

4. Insta Ltd. owns some ordinary shares of Solomon Ltd. The cost basis of the investment in Solomon Ltd. is 
Sh.200,000 and the fair value at 31 December 2021 is Sh.50,000. Insta Ltd. believes the decline in the 
value of its investment in Solomon Ltd. is permanent and therefore impaired, but Insta Ltd. does not intend 
to sell its investment in Solomon Ltd. in the foreseeable future. 

5. Insta Ltd. purchased 25% of the ordinary shares of Thogoto Ltd. for Sh.900,000. Insta Ltd. has significant 
influence over the operating activities of Thogoto Ltd. During the year 2021, Thogoto Ltd. reported net 
income of Sh.300,000 and paid a dividend of Sh.100,000. 
 
Required: 
(i) Explain the different rationales for the different accounting and reporting rules for different types 

of investments in the securities of other companies. (4 marks) 
 

(ii) Determine the total effect on Insta Ltd.’s 2021 net income investment in other companies. 
   (4 marks) 
 

(b) Briston Ltd. has just prepared its draft accounts for the year ended 31 December 2021. The external auditor has 
reviewed these accounts and has advised that these accounts will not be authorised for issue for another three weeks 
until the following issues are addressed and resolved: 
 

1. In January 2022, a building with a carrying value of Sh.250 million burnt down. It was not insured. 
2. In February 2022, inventories with a year-end cost of Sh.79 million were sold for Sh.65 million. 
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3. In March 2022, a major customer went bankrupt owing Briston Ltd. Sh.235 million. The amount receivable 
was made up as follows: 
  
Date of invoice: Sh. 
December 2021 64,000 
January 2022 123,000 
February 2022       48,000 
 235,000 

4. In May 2021, the directors declared a final dividend of Sh.78 million in respect of year 2020. 
 
The draft statement of financial position of Briston Ltd. was as follows: 
 
 Sh.“million” Sh.“million” 
Asset:  
Non-current assets  1,126 
Current assets: 
Inventory 238 
Trade receivables 436 
Bank  400 1,074 
  2,200 
Equity and liabilities: 
Capital and reserves 1,000 
Non-current liabilities 500 ____ 
Current liabilities                      700 2,200 
  
Required: 
(i) Explain how each of the above four events after the reporting period will be accounted for. 

   (8 marks) 
  

(ii) Redraft the statement of financial position to incorporate all of the adjusting events after the 
reporting period according to, International Accounting Standard, IAS 10-Events after reporting 
date.   (4 marks) 
   (Total: 20 marks) 
………………………………………………………………………… 
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